
Warrenton Planning Commission 
AGENDA 

September 9, 2021 I 6 PM I City Hall – Commission Chambers 

***The meeting will be broadcast via Zoom at the following link*** 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89594092173?pwd=VG5sMFFTVExqTWl1dXVXSTBFbWw2UT09 

Meeting ID: 895 9409 2173 
Passcode: 612659 

Dial in number: 253-215-8782 

1. Attendance
2. Flag Salute
3. Public Comment Period on Non-Agenda Items

4. Approval of minutes of August 12, 2021
• Action Item: Motion to Adopt

5. PUBLIC HEARING: SDR-21-3 Commercial Site Design Review
• Applicant: Greta Holstrom/Ardor Consulting, LLC on behalf of Fuiten West

Partnership
• Proposal: New 13,607-square-foot building for the Medix ambulance dispatch

facility. The proposed development is located on Tax Lot 81033AA01100 at 2325
SE Dolphin Avenue. The subject property is zoned General Industrial (I-1)

• Action Item: Recommendation to approve with conditions

6. PUBLIC HEARING: SW-21-1 Stop Work Order Hearing
• Alleged Violation: Occupancy of Recreation Vehicles in violation of WMC

12.28.030
• Property: 719 S. Main Avenue, Tax Lot 81021DC02900
• Owners: Jeffrey & Teri Menna

7. Staff Announcements & Project Updates

8. Next Meeting: October 14, 2021

P. O. BOX 250 W ARRENTON, OR 97146 - 0250 OFFICE: 503 . 861 . 2233 FAX: 503 . 861 . 2351  

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 1 of 57

about:blank


MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 

August 12, 2021 

6:00 p.m. 

Warrenton City Hall - Commission Chambers 

225 S. Main  

Warrenton, OR 97146 

Chair Mitchell called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the public in the Pledge of 

Allegiance. 

Commissioners Present: Chair Paul Mitchell, Christine Bridgens, Mike Moha, Ken Yuill, and 

Lylla Gaebel (via Zoom) 

Excused: Commissioner Chris Hayward and Commissioner Kevin Swanson 

Staff Present: Interim City Planner Will Caplinger (via Zoom), Public Works Director Collin 

Stelzig (via Zoom), and Secretary Rebecca Sprengeler 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS - None 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – 5.13.21

Commissioner Yuill made the motion to approve the minutes as written. Motion was 

seconded and passed unanimously.  

Mitchell – aye; Bridgens – aye; Moha – aye; Yuill – aye; Gaebel - aye 

PUBLC HEARING  

Open Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell opened the public hearing for the matter of Consolidated 

Application SUB-21-1/SDR-21-1 for a nine-lot townhome subdivision at 444 Jetty in Hammond. 

Formalities followed. No conflicts of interest were disclosed. Commissioner Yuill noted he 

drove by the site but feels it will not affect his decision.  

Staff Report: Interim City Planner Will Caplinger briefly introduced the 444 Jetty project. He 

noted the WMC (Warrenton Municipal Code) requirements for consolidated applications. He 

discussed differences between his staff report and previous. He noted there are no specific 

findings for compliance of the comprehensive plan because it is assumed by the application of 

WMC criteria. He explained the WMC requires consolidated applications to have separate 

findings and decisions. He noted the findings and applicable criteria are the same for both 

applications and explained the subdivision has more detail while the site design review refers 

back to discussion covered by the subdivision application. He also discussed a change to the 

format of the findings. Mr. Caplinger reviewed and briefly discussed each finding of the SUB-

DRAFT
4. Minutes

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 2 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 1 



21-1 section of the staff report. While reviewing 16.136.010 Purpose and Applicability, Mr.

Caplinger stated he would like to augment the finding to add a requirement for a waivered

remonstrance, which is noted as a requirement in the conditions of approval. He also stated it

would be required for any new development in the area. He noted the need for public

improvements in the Kindred Park area and briefly discussed the Clark vs. City of Albany LUBA

(Land Use Board of Appeals) decision. He continued reviewing the staff report. Under

16.136.020.H.2.b of the staff report, he noted the improvement plans do not show a required

barricade as listed in the conditions of approval. He noted the hammerhead turnaround, if

approved by the Fire Chief, will be a semipermanent condition until Fourth Avenue is improved

and extended. Commissioner Yuill asked about drainage. Mr. Caplinger noted the applicant

stated drainage will be to the Hammond Boat Basin. Public Works Director Collin Stelzig

confirmed stormwater will drain to the west outfall to the Hammond Marina. He discussed the

applicant’s suggested new stormwater line. It was noted the new line will need to be TV-ed. Mr.

Caplinger continued his review of the staff report. Mr. Caplinger reviewed the conditions of

approval as written in the staff report. He stated his recommendation is that the Planning

Commission approve the subdivision/preliminary plat application subject to the conditions

outlined in the staff report.

Questions of Staff: Commissioner Yuill noted pervious condition of approval for this property 

for water flow. He asked if there should be a condition related to waterflow and pressure. Mr. 

Stelzig noted a condition in the August 5th planning review comments memo to do a water model 

and discussed the suggested water improvements. He feels with the improvements and the water 

model, there should be enough water for the development. Brief discussion followed. Chair 

Mitchell asked how the maximum number of units before a public space or park is required. Mr. 

Caplinger stated 20 units. Brief discussion continued. Chair Mitchell asked if garages or carports 

are included. Commissioner Gaebel asked if the developer plans to build additional units on the 

“stub.” Mr. Caplinger noted that would not be allowed due to density requirements. 

Commissioner Yuill and Commissioner Moha confirmed the units have two-car garages. There 

were no further questions. 

Applicant Presentation: Mark Hansen of Jetty Street LLC made introductory comments and 

discussed his work in development. He noted he wants to be a homeowner of one of these units. 

He discussed several infrastructure improvements that will be made. He noted this will meet the 

housing need in the area. He noted the units will be managed be an HOA (Homeowner’s 

Association). He briefly discussed access.  

Questions of Applicant: Commissioner Yuill asked if there will be a sprinkler system. Mr. 

Hansen said there will not be sprinklers and noted new fire hydrants. Commissioner Yuill asked 

if there has been contact with the neighbors losing their view. Mr. Hansen confirmed he has 

spoken with the neighbors and received no comments in opposition. Commissioner Bridgens 

asked if the units will be owner-occupied or rented. Mr. Hansen confirmed they will be owner-

occupied. He explained the intention is to sell the units as they are built. Chair Mitchell 

commented on potential for the units to be rented unless restricted by HOA or CC&R 

(Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions). Brief discussion followed. Chair Mitchell asked about 

the selling price. Mr. Hansen estimated between $500,000 - $600,000. He discussed the details 

and quality of the units. Commissioner Moha asked if the intention is to begin immediately. Mr. 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 3 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 2 



Hansen responded the intention is to begin as soon as possible. 

Public Testimony: Pam Ackley spoke in favor of the development noting it is a start to 

beautifying the Hammond Marina and bringing in new infrastructure. Gerald Poe also spoke in 

favor noting his home is near this proposed development. He discussed his support for the 

development. There were no comments in opposition.  

Close Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell closed the public hearing. 

Deliberation of Commissioners: Commissioner Gaebel agreed with Ms. Ackley. Chair Mitchell 

also agreed, noting he wants to ensure developments have long term benefit, not just immediate. 

He also noted the lack of housing. He noted concerns about HOA’s when not set up well. 

Commissioner Yuill noted his only concerns were about past drainage and waterflow issues. 

Commissioner Moha made comments in agreement noting he feels the issues were addressed 

with this development. Commissioner Gaebel asked if the shared walls are fire walls. Chair 

Mitchell confirmed and briefly discussed fire life safety requirements. Commissioner Bridgens 

asked if there will be yards. 

Re-Open Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell re-opened the public hearing. Mr. Hansen responded 

that there will be front yards, patios, and exterior balconies. He also noted there will be double 

car driveways in the rear.  

Close Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell closed the public hearing. 

Commissioner Yuill made the motion that based on the findings and conclusions of the 

August 3, 2021 staff report, I move to approve SUB-21-1 Preliminary Plat Application for 

Jetty View Subdivision subject to the 18 conditions of approval that are included in the 

staff report. There was brief discussion about the two suggested motions. Commissioner Moha 

noted the motion made is correct. Mr. Caplinger confirmed there are 18 conditions of approval. 

Chair Mitchell asked if each condition should be read for the record. Commissioner Yuill noted 

they do not all need to be read. Commissioner Gaebel asked for clarification about the future 

street plan condition of approval. Mr. Caplinger noted that it is condition 9. Commissioner Yuill 

asked if the motion made covers both the SUB and SDR. Mr. Caplinger noted it is only for the 

SUB application and the SDR will be reviewed separately, noting the requirement for separate 

decisions and findings. Chair Mitchell stated the motion is going to be restated. 

Commissioner Yuill made the motion that based on the findings and conclusions of the 

August 3, 2021 staff report, I move to approve SDR-21-1 Site Design Review application for 

Jetty View Subdivision subject to the conditions of approval that were included in the staff 

report. Motion was seconded. Mr. Caplinger noted that the motion needs to be for SUB-21-1. 

Commissioner Yuill made the motion that based on the findings and conclusions of the 

August 3, 2021 staff report, I move again to approve SUB-21-1 Preliminary Plat 

Application for Jetty View Subdivision subject to the conditions of approval included in the 

staff report. Motion was seconded and passed unanimously. 
DRAFT

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 4 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 3 



Mitchell – aye; Bridgens – aye; Moha – aye; Yuill – aye; Gaebel - aye 

Staff Report: Mr. Caplinger reviewed the staff report and conditions of approval for SDR-21-1. 

Mr. Caplinger noted the suggested motion for the SDR. Chair Mitchell asked for a motion. 

Commissioner Yuill asked if the applicant would like to speak. Mr. Caplinger asked about 

opening the public hearing.  

Re-Open Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell opened the public hearing and asked if the applicant 

would like to make comments. Mr. Hansen noted he has already said what he wanted to. There 

were no comments in favor or opposition.  

Close Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell closed the public hearing. 

Commissioner Yuill made the motion that based on the findings and conclusions of the 

August 3, 2021 staff report, I move to approve SDR-21-1 Site Design Review application for 

Jetty View Subdivision subject to the conditions of approval included in the staff report. 

Motion was seconded and passed unanimously. 

Mitchell – aye; Bridgens – aye; Moha – aye; Yuill – aye; Gaebel - aye 

There was brief discussion about the public hearing script. Secretary Rebecca Sprengeler made a 

point of order, noting the two scripts are different – the first was only for Jetty and the Roby’s 

script needs to be read.  

Open Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell opened the public hearing in the matter of SDR-21-2, a 

commercial site design review for a new Roby’s Furniture Store. Formalities followed. No 

conflicts of interest were disclosed. Commissioner Yuill noted he drove past the property but 

feels it will not affect his decision. Chair Mitchell disclosed he manages a business directly 

across the street.  

Staff Report: Mr. Caplinger introduced the project, described the format of the staff report, and 

reviewed each criterion of the staff report for SDR-21-2 for Roby’s Furniture. Mr. Caplinger 

stated under 16.116.030 Architectural and Site Design Standards staff finding b., the exterior 

building materials are limited to board & batt siding and lap siding. He stated this criterion is not 

met and noted an amendment to condition of approval number 6 to add to this criterion to have 

additional building materials. He continued his review. Commissioner Gaebel noted aesthetic 

concerns about storage buildings facing Highway 101. Mr. Caplinger noted the trash enclosures 

are screened, all equipment is enclosed, the loading docks are concealed well. Brief discussion 

followed. Mr. Caplinger continued reviewing his staff report, referencing attachments in the 

meeting packet. Mr. Caplinger noted garbage truck maneuvering concerns on page 120 of the 

staff report that will be subject to the approval of Public Works department. Mr. discussed WMC 

16.144 regarding signs. He stated he wants to add a finding that that will be met by a condition 

of approval. He suggested a modification to condition of approval number 9. He noted the 

applicant stated that only building-mounted signage is proposed. He noted there is no exemption 

for building-mounted signs. Under 16.156.030 Mr. Caplinger discussed Department of State 

Lands (DSL) Wetland Fill Permit No. 38988-FP, noting it expires on August 7, 2021. He noted 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 5 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 4 



John Nygaard confirmed the permit is renewed annually and the plans were submitted prior to 

expiration. Mr. Caplinger stated under condition of approval number 10, there will need to be an 

additional comment that the City will need to receive an updated copy of the site plan. He then 

continued reviewing the staff report. Mr. Caplinger emphasized that the Type III “permit” is not 

the Site Design Review approval. He stated Site Design review is not a permit, per se, but is the 

mechanism by which the Community Development Director or the hearings body determines 

satisfaction of the Code requirements. He noted SRD ensures code compliance but does not 

permit development and noted the need for a Type I Permitted Use application. He noted this has 

not been done for previous approvals and that SDR’s are technically subject to a Type I or Type 

II development review process. He noted this needs to be ensured moving forward then 

continued reviewing the staff report. He noted the need for an updated impact study. Mr. 

Caplinger noted a correction that the conditions of approval will be met for Development in 

Accordance with Permit Approval. Mt. Caplinger stated the findings above demonstrate that the 

proposed design of the Roby’s Furniture Store development is generally consistent with the C-1 

zoning district development standards and the design standards of the development code. Staff 

recommends the Planning Commission approve the site design review application subject to the 

conditions of approval. He read the conditions of approval as listed in the staff report, noting an 

addition to condition of approval 9 that the submittal shall include a sign plan and separate sign 

permit application to comply with section 16.116.030.C.3.b. He also made an addition to 

condition of approval 10 that the applicant shall also provide a copy of the current wetland fill 

permit renewal.  

Questions of Staff: Chair Mitchell thanked Mr. Caplinger for his thorough review. There was 

brief discussion about a recommended motion.  

Applicant Presentation: Kyle Langeliers, representative of Roby’s Furniture and Appliance, 

introduced himself and the team: Stricker Engineering, project manager, Big River, and 

Warrenton Fiber representatives. He thanked staff noting how helpful the pre-application 

meeting was. He noted excitement to move into a growing community.  

Questions of Applicant: Commissioner Yuill complimented the attractiveness of the Roby’s 

furniture store near Tillamook and asked if the aesthetics will be mimicked in Warrenton. Mr. 

Langeliers confirmed this development will mimic that store. Commissioner Yuill asked about 

the display to warehouse ratio of the square footage. Mr. Langeliers stated 5,000 square feet will 

be warehouse. Brief discussion followed. Chair Mitchell noted concerns with Tractor Supply’s 

use of materials, noting the goal to keep Highway101 attractive with the store front facing 

instead of the rear. He discussed the push during the Walmart development for a wall to conceal 

the back of the building from Highway 101. He noted the importance of buildings being 

aesthetically pleasing, stating Warrenton is becoming a place you come to and not drive through. 

Mr. Langeliers made comments in agreement. Commissioner Gaebel asked if there are 

sprinklers. It was noted there are interior sprinklers. 

Public Testimony: No one spoke in favor or opposition. 

Close Public Hearing: There being no further comments, Chair Mitchell closed the public 

hearing.  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 6 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 5 



Deliberation of Commissioners: Chair Mitchell noted he feels this will be a nice addition 

noting his excitement. He feels this is the type of business they have been looking to grow and 

feels they will be good community partners. Commissioner Yuill noted many issues in that area 

have already been addressed multiple times and noted his appreciation for detail in this 

application. He stated he feels very comfortable and excited about the project. Commissioner 

Moha noted his agreement and stated that is what the area was developed for. Commissioner 

Gaebel noted she would like to ensure the wetland permit comes in. An applicant requested to 

address the Commissioner Gaebel’s concern.  

Re-Open Public Hearing: Chair Mitchell reopened the public hearing testimony. Commissioner 

Gaebel restated her concern about flooding in the wetland area and would like to ensure the 

permit is in order. Wes Giesbrecht, representative of Warrenton Fiber, noted the wetland has 

been filled for almost 15 years and is unsure why there is still an active wetland permit and 

renewal requirement. He asked for clarification from staff. Commissioner Yuill noted wetland on 

the northeast corner of the property. Mr. Giesbrecht responded that there is a corner that is not 

owned by Warrenton Fiber or this project that remains unfilled. He noted Warrenton Fiber’s 

property has been filled for many years. Brief discussion followed about the fill permit. Mr. 

Caplinger responded that if a delineation was done, he does not see the need for the renewal but 

will defer to the property owner and the Department of State Lands. He stated the statute says if 

a development is going to impact a wetland, then all of this applies, but if a wetland is no longer 

there or is authorized as fill, then he does not see that a wetland fill permit would be necessary or 

applicable. Discussion followed. Mr. Giesbrecht noted he does not prefer this to be a condition of 

approval on this project. Chair Mitchell noted if this condition is removed, it cannot be added 

back in. Brief discussion followed. Mr. Caplinger suggested modification to condition of 

approval 10 provide a copy of current wetland fill permit renewal if applicable and required by 

Department of State Lands. Chair Mitchell noted emailed public comment in opposition from 

Kurt and Henry Wilener and responded to each of their concerns about public notice, access, and 

drainage. Mr. Langeliers responded to the comments noting the water drainage has been 

addressed.  

Close Public Hearing: There being no further comments, Chair Mitchell closed the public 

hearing. Mr. Caplinger discussed his response to the Wileners’ comments via email. 

Commissioner Gaebel made the motion to approve SDR-21-2 Site Design Review 

Application for Roby’s Furniture Store subject to the conditions of approval included in 

the staff report. Motion was seconded and passed unanimously.  

Mitchell – aye; Bridgens – aye; Moha – aye; Yuill – aye; Gaebel – aye 

Ms. Sprengeler made a point of order to ask Chair Mitchell if the motion should be amended to 

include the changes made to conditions of approval based on the discussion at this meeting. 

Discussion followed.  

Commissioner Gaebel moved to repeal the motion that just passed. Motion was seconded 

and passed unanimously.  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 7 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 6 



Mitchell – aye; Bridgens – aye; Moha – aye; Yuill – aye; Gaebel – aye 

Commissioner Gaebel made the motion to approve SDR-21-2 Site Design Review 

Application for Roby’s Furniture Store subject to the conditions of approval included in 

the staff report and as amended during discussion and added to the record. Motion was 

seconded and passed unanimously.  

Mitchell – aye; Bridgens – aye; Moha – aye; Yuill – aye; Gaebel – aye 

STAFF ANNOUNCEMENTS & PROJECT UPDATES 

Mr. Caplinger discussed the stop work order for Marissa Lauren’s vacation rental on 1564 SE 

Honeysuckle Loop. He discussed the grandfathering process and the revocation and violation 

enforcement processes. He noted if the use does not cease, it will be brought to the September 

Planning Commission meeting. Brief discussion followed. Chair Mitchell discussed the 

confusion from homeowners about the grandfathered status of many vacation rentals. Discussion 

followed. Mr. Caplinger discussed the need for a clear system to address revocation of vacation 

rentals in residential districts. Commissioner Moha commented on the press coverage on this 

subject. Commissioner Yuill requested the City Attorney be available to assist the Planning 

Commission during this process. Mr. Caplinger discussed updates for the Young’s Bay Plaza 

project, Trillium House, and the Roosevelt subdivision. Commissioner Bridgens noted a concern 

about public safety with lack of police officers in a continually growing city. Commissioner 

Gaebel suggested requiring sprinklers for attached dwellings.  

There being no further business, Chair Mitchell adjourned the meeting at 8:48 p.m. 

Next Meeting: September 9, 2021 

APPROVED: 

___________________________ 

ATTEST: Paul Mitchell, Chair  

_____________________________ 

Rebecca Sprengeler, Secretary DRAFT

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 8 of 57

MINUTES 

Warrenton Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting – 8.12.21 

Page: 7 



August 31, 2021 

To: Warrenton Planning Commission 

From: Will Caplinger, Interim City Planner 

Re: Site Design Review Application SDR-21-3 

BACKGROUND 

On July 20, 2021, Greta Holmstrom of Ardor Consulting, LLC submitted the application listed above on 

behalf of property owner Fuiten West Partnership to construct a new 13,607 square foot building and 

associated site improvements to replace the existing Medix ambulance dispatch facility at 2325 SE 

Dolphin Avenue on Tax Lot 81033AA01100. The property is on the west side of SE Dolphin Avenue 

approximately 475 feet east of US Highway 101, in the General Industrial (I-1) Zone.  

The application was deemed complete on July 22, 2021. Notice for a Type III public hearing was 

mailed on August 20, 2021 and was published in the Columbia Press on August 27, 2021. No public 

comments have yet been received. The primary purpose and intent of the staff report is to make findings 

on whether the application satisfies criteria and standards specified in the Warrenton Municipal Code 

(WMC). The City maintains consistency with  Comprehensive Plan provisions through the enactment and 

application of land use regulations. Hence, the staff report does not make specific findings on compliance 

with Comprehensive Plan Policies or provisions, but adheres to the WMC chapter order listed below. 

APPLICABLE CRITERIA AND STANDARDS 

Chapter 16.60 General Industrial (I-1) District 

Chapter 16.116 Design Standards 

Chapter 16.120 Access and Circulation  

Chapter 16.124 Landscaping, Street Trees, Fences, and Walls 

Chapter 16.128 Vehicle and Bicycle Parking 

Chapter 16.136 Public Facilities Standards 

Chapter 16.140 Stormwater and Surface Water Management 

Chapter 16.144 Signs   

Chapter 16.152 Grading, Excavating, and Erosion Control Plans 

Chapter 16.192 Large Scale Developments 

Chapter 16.208 Types of Applications and Review Procedures 

Chapter 16.212 Site Design Review 

P. O. BOX 250 W ARRENTON, OR 97146 - 0250 OFFICE: 503 . 861 . 2233 FAX: 503 . 861 . 
2351  

5. SDR-21-3

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 9 of 57



FINDINGS 

Chapter 16.60 General Industrial (I-1) District 
16.60.020 Permitted Uses 

The following uses and activities and their accessory uses and activities are permitted in the I-1 zone if 

the Community Development Director determines that the uses conform to the standards of Section 

16.60.040, applicable Development Code standards, and other City regulations: 

F.     Storage and distribution services and facilities (i.e., truck terminals, warehouses and storage 

buildings and yards, contractor’s establishments, lumber yards and sales) or similar uses. 

L.     Professional, financial or business offices. 

N.    Government buildings and uses. 

V.    Similar uses to those listed in this section.  

Staff Finding: This criterion is met.   

• An ambulance dispatch facility is a similar use to the uses described in F, L, and V:  

o The site will dispatch / distribute ambulances similar to a truck terminal (16.60.020.F).  

o The building will include professional offices (16.60.020.L). 

o Medix provides advanced life support response and emergency/non-emergency medical 

transportation (which are defined by the state of Oregon as essential services) to all of 

Clatsop County and parts of Pacific County. Medix provides these services under an 

exclusive franchise with Clatsop County, therefore serving a government function/use 

(16.60.020.N). 

 

16.60.040 Development Standards. 

The following standards are applicable in the I-1 zone (as applicable to the project): 

C.     Storage. All materials, including wastes, shall be stored and maintained in a manner that will 

not attract or aid the propagation of insects or rodents or other animals or birds, or otherwise 

create a health hazard or nuisance. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met with a condition of approval. 

• The applicant has stated that the trash receptacle area will be on the adjacent tax lot to the west, 

under the same ownership. 

  

E.     Buffer. Where this zone adjoins another non-industrial zone there shall be a buffer area at 

least 10 feet wide to provide a dense evergreen landscape buffer which attains a mature height of 

eight feet, or such other screening measures as may be prescribed by the City in the event 

differences in elevation or other circumstances should defeat the purpose of this requirement. 

Staff Finding: This criterion cannot be met and should be waived.  

• Along its north boundary, the subject property abuts the General Commercial (C-1) zone; but the 

Medix project is a redevelopment that will utilize the existing access easement and paved 

driveway that abuts the C-1 zone, i.e., a 10-foot-wide landscape buffer is infeasible (please see 

the map snips below and Sheet A-002 in the attached application packet). 

• The adjoining C-1 zone does not require side yard setbacks unless the property abuts a 

residential district; hence, the existing buildings on the C-1 parcel were built up to the property 

line. Moreover, these buildings are used for commercial storage, and the Medix facility is a 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 10 of 57



compatible use with little or no potential to negatively impact existing use on the adjoining C-1 

property.  

 

Medix site outlined in the I-1 Zone

 
 

Storage units on C-1 parcel to the north

 

 

H.    Setbacks. The minimum front, side and rear yard setbacks shall be 10 feet. When across a 

street from a non-industrial zone, the setback from the property line shall be 10 feet. When a 

property abuts a non-industrial zone, the setback shall be as follows: 

1.     50 feet for buildings and other structures more than 10 feet in height; 

Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

• The main buildings are all more than 50 feet from the north property line, which is the only 

property line that abuts a non-industrial zone (see map snip above and Sheet A-100 in the 

application packet). 

 

J.      Building Height. The maximum building height shall be 45 feet, except that it may be lower 

under either of the following circumstances: 

1.     Within 100 feet of a non-industrial zone, where the maximum building height shall be the 

same as the maximum building height in that zone. 

2.     Within the Airport Hazard Overlay Zone, where the maximum building height is 

described by the Airport Hazard Overlay Zone. 

Staff Finding: These criteria are met. 

• 1. Both the main building and the garage are within 100 feet of the C-1 Zone, which has a 

maximum height of 45 feet. The main building and the garage are both 23-24 feet in height to the 

ridgeline.  

• 2. The Airport Hazard Overlay Zone consists of several Imaginary Surfaces that are either three-

dimensional or that exist as planar surfaces above the ground. The Medix site is beneath only one 

surface, the Conical Surface, the outer-most surface from the airport, which is in the shape of a 

shallow basin.  The bottom of this basin or surface is at an elevation of 164.9 feet above Mean 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 11 of 57



Sea Level (MSL), so the Medix development does not have the potential to negatively affect any 

aircraft operating within this surface. 

Moreover, WMC Section 16.92.030 Uses Permitted Outright Within Airport Imaginary Surfaces 

Subsection H allows, Emergency medical flight services, including activities, aircraft, accessory 

structures, and other facilities necessary to support emergency transportation for medical 

purposes.  

Even if not considered a facility in direct support of emergency medical flight services, Section 

16.92.040 Uses Permitted Under Prescribed Conditions Within Airport Imaginary Surfaces 

Subsection D allows Buildings and uses of a public works, public service or public utility nature, 

subject to the standards contained in Section 16.92.060. Only Subsection A of those standards 

would be applicable beneath the Conical Surface, in that it prohibits any structures from 

extending above the Surface, which has a base elevation of 164.9 feet above MSL. The Medix 

development lacks the potential to not comply with that standard.  

 

L.     All new sewer and water connections for a proposed development shall comply with all City 

regulations. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

 

Chapter 16.116 Design Standards 
16.116.030 Architectural and Site Design Standards. 

The City’s development design standards are for the commercial district corridors along US Highway 101, 

Alternate Highway 101, SW & SE Dolphin, SE Marlin Avenue, E Harbor Drive, S Main Avenue, SE Ensign Lane, 

Pacific Drive, and SE Neptune. The standards in this section apply only to property in the commercial corridors 

listed above; lands outside of these commercial corridors are not subject to these standards. 

 

Staff Finding: These criteria do not apply. 

• Although the site is on SE Dolphin Avenue, the commercial corridor ends at the last parcel under 

commercial zoning, which is the parcel that abuts the north side of the Medix site. SE Dolphin 

Avenue continues under industrial zoning south to the city limits. 

 

Chapter 16.120 Access and Circulation  
16.120.020 Vehicular Access and Circulation. 

C.     Access Permit Required. Access to a street requires an access permit.  

Staff Finding: This criterion does not apply. 

• The development will continue to use the existing established street connection.  

D.    Traffic Study Requirements. The City or other agency with access jurisdiction may require a 

traffic study prepared by a qualified professional to determine access, circulation and other 

transportation requirements. (See also Chapter 16.136, Public Facilities Standards, and Chapter 

16.256, Traffic Impact Study.) 

Staff Finding: This criterion does not apply. 

• The project does not have the potential to cause the conditions that require a traffic study. 

• 16.256.030 When [a Traffic Study is] Required. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 12 of 57



A traffic impact study will be required to be submitted to the City with a land use application, 

when the following conditions apply: 

A.    The development application involves a change in zoning or a plan amendment designation; 

or, 

B.     The development shall cause one or more of the following effects, which can be determined 

by field counts, site observation, traffic impact analysis or study, field measurements, crash 

history, Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual; and information and 

studies provided by the local reviewing jurisdiction and/or ODOT: 

1.     An increase in site traffic volume generation by 300 average daily trips (ADT) or more; or 

2.     An increase in ADT hour volume of a particular movement to and from the state highway by 

20% or more; or 

3.     An increase in use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding the 20,000-pound gross vehicle 

weights by 10 vehicles or more per day; or 

4.     The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum sight distance requirements, or 

is located where vehicles entering or leaving the property are restricted, or such vehicles queue 

or hesitate on the state highway, creating a safety hazard; or 

5.     A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, such as back up onto 

the highway or traffic crashes in the approach area. (Ord. 1225 § 13, 2019) 

• A. The development does not involve a change in zoning or Comprehensive Plan designation. 

• B. 1-3: The development will operate at the same level as the current facility and will not cause any 

increases in traffic volume, movement to/from the state highway, or use of adjacent streets. 

• B.4: N/A 

• B.5: The internal traffic patterns will remain similar to existing patterns, and there is no additional potential 

to cause traffic crashes in the approach area.  
 

F.     Access Options. When vehicle access is required for development (i.e., for off-street parking, 

delivery, service, drive-through facilities, etc.), access shall be provided by one of the following 

methods (a minimum of 10 feet per lane is required). These methods are “options” to the 

developer/subdivider, unless one method is specifically required under Division 2, or through 

conditions required by the hearings body. 

2.     Option 2. Access is from a private street or driveway connected to an adjoining property that 

has direct access to a public street (i.e., “shared driveway”). A public access easement covering 

the driveway shall be recorded in this case to assure access to the closest public street for all users 

of the private street/drive. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

• Sheet A-002 in the application packet indicates a 20’-wide access easement recorded in Book 908 

page 601. In order to confirm that the easement does not provide access to another property, staff 

has requested the applicant to provide a copy of this easement.   

 

L.     Fire Access and Circulation. The City of Warrenton adopts the Uniform Fire Code, as 

amended, including administrative sections and all appendices and all the State of Oregon 

revisions. All development in the City of Warrenton is required to meet these minimum adopted 

standards. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 13 of 57



Staff Finding: The associated criteria will be met by conditions of approval . 

• The Fire Chief has determined that the development provides adequate access for fire protection.  

• Other criteria are addressed in the conditions of approval.  

 

16.120.030 Pedestrian Access and Circulation. 

A.    Pedestrian Access and Circulation. To ensure safe, direct and convenient pedestrian 

circulation, all developments, except single-family detached housing, duplexes, or triplexes on 

individual lots, shall provide a continuous pedestrian and/or multi-use pathway system.  

Staff Finding: This criterion is met.  

• Pedestrian circulation is provided by sidewalks connecting the parking areas with each of the 

buildings. The buildings are connected and have internal pedestrian circulation. 

 

Chapter 16.124 Landscaping, Street Trees, Fences, and Walls 
16.124.070 New Landscaping. 

A.    Applicability. This section shall apply to all developments within the City of Warrenton. 

B.     Landscaping Plan Required. For every new development in the City of Warrenton requiring a 

City permit, a landscape plan is required. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval.   

• The applicant has provided a description of the landscaping plan but not a plan, per se.   

 

Chapter 16.128 Vehicle and Bicycle Parking 
16.128.030 Vehicle Parking Standards. 

At the time a structure is erected or enlarged, or the use of a structure or parcel of land is changed 

within any zone in the City, off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with requirements 

in this section, chapter, and Code, unless greater requirements are otherwise established. The minimum 

number of required off-street vehicle parking spaces (i.e., parking that is located in parking lots and 

garages and not in the street right-of-way) shall be determined based on the standards in Table 

16.128.030.A. 

A.    General Provisions. 

1.     Groups of four or more off-street parking spaces shall be served by a driveway or aisle 

so that no backing movements or other maneuvering within a street or right-of-way, other 

than an alley, will be required. Section 16.120.020 contains driveway opening and width 

standards. 

2.     Service drives or aisles to off-street parking areas shall be designed and constructed to 

facilitate the flow of traffic and to provide maximum safety to pedestrian, bicycle, and 

vehicular traffic on the site. 

3.     Service drives or aisles shall be clearly and permanently marked and defined through the 

use of bumper rails, fences, buildings, walls, painting, or other appropriate markers. 

4.     Fractional space requirements shall be counted as a whole space. 

5.     All parking lots shall be designed and constructed to meet the City standards of Section 

16.120.020, this chapter, Chapter 16.136, and this Code. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 14 of 57



Staff Finding: These criteria are met or will be met with conditions of approval. 

• 1. The parking lot is served by the private drive. All maneuvering will occur within the parking

lot.

• 2, 3 & 5 will be met by conditions of approval.

• 4. The applicant provided an analysis of parking requirements based on a total number of 91

employees rather than the number of employees on the largest shift. The parking requirement for

industrial uses is the lesser of 1 space per each two employees or one space per 700 square feet of

gross floor area. The plans fare exceed either calculation, and indicate 55 parking spaces, including

four ADA-compliant spaces (see Sheets A-003 & A-100).

16.128.040 Bicycle Parking Requirements. 

A. All uses shall provide bicycle parking in conformance with the following standards which are

evaluated during development review or site design review.

B. Number of Bicycle Parking Spaces. The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces required

for uses is provided in Table 16.128.040.A.

Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

• Institutional uses under “other uses” in Table 16.128.040.A require 1 space per 10 vehicle spaces.

The 55 proposed parking spaces require 6 bicycle spaces. 50% of the spaces must be long term

and 50% must be short term. Short term spaces can be outdoors on lockable sheltered racks, as

proposed on applicant’s Landscape Plan (Appendix D). Long term spaces must be in a lockable

enclosure, which may be a secure room inside the store. The parking plan indicates three short-

term spaces on exterior racks and three in a secured location indoors.

Chapter 16.136 Public Facilities Standards 
16.136.010 Purpose and Applicability. 

C. Standard Specifications. The City shall establish standard construction specifications

consistent with the design standards of this chapter and application of engineering principles. They

are incorporated in this Code by reference.

D. Conditions of Development Approval. No development may occur unless required public

facilities are in place or guaranteed, in conformance with the provisions of this Code.

Improvements required as a condition of development approval, when not voluntarily accepted by

the applicant, shall be roughly proportional to the impact of development. Findings in the

development approval shall indicate how the required improvements are roughly proportional to

the impact.

Staff Finding: These criteria are met or will be met by conditions of approval. 

16.136.020 Transportation Standards. 

A. Development Standards. No development shall occur unless the lot or parcel abuts a public or

private street, other than an alley, for at least 25 feet and is in conformance with the provisions of

Chapter 16.120, Access and Circulation, and the following standards are met:

1. Streets within or adjacent to a development shall be improved in accordance with the

Comprehensive Plan, Transportation System Plan, and the provisions of this chapter;

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 15 of 57



J.      Sidewalks, Planter Strips, Bicycle Lanes. Sidewalks, planter strips, and bicycle lanes shall be 

installed in conformance with the standards in Table 16.136.010, applicable provisions of the 

Transportation System Plan, the Comprehensive Plan, and adopted street plans. Sidewalks are 

required on both sides of all streets (including streets inside easements), except for alley ways and 

walking paths. 

Staff Finding: These criteria are met or will be met by conditions of approval.  

• SE Dolphin Avenue is listed as a Local Street in the Transportation System Plan. Table 

16.136.010 requires that Local Streets be improved with a 5’-wide planter strip and a 5’-wide 

sidewalk. Local Streets do not require a bike lane. 

 

X.    Street Light Standards. Street lights shall be installed in accordance with City standards. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

 

Chapter 16.140 Stormwater and Surface Water Management 
16.140.020 Developments Must Drain Properly. 

A.    All developments must provide an adequate drainage system to prevent the undue detention or 

retention of stormwater or surface water on the development site.  

C.     Whenever practicable, the drainage system of a development must coordinate with and 

connect to the drainage systems or drainage ways on surrounding properties or streets. 

D.    All developments must be constructed and maintained so that adjacent properties are not 

unreasonably burdened with stormwater runoff as a result of the developments. 

16.140.030 Surface Water Management. 

All developments must be constructed and maintained so that impacts to natural and man-made 

drainage ways do not unreasonably burdened upstream or downstream properties with surface water 

flooding as a result of the developments. 

Staff Finding: These criteria will be met by conditions of approval.  

 

16.140.040 Erosion and Sediment Control. 

B.     Erosion and sediment control plans are required by the City as a component of the site plan 

for all plats and all projects which require site plan review. Erosion control plans must be designed 

to the specifications as outlined in this chapter. 

C.     Development of the land may not begin (and no building permits may be issued) until the 

City-appointed engineer approves the erosion control plan. 

Staff Finding: These criteria will be met by conditions of approval. 

• The applicant has not yet provided an erosion control plan.   

 

Chapter 16.152 Grading, Excavating, and Erosion Control Plans 
16.152.060 Grading Permit Requirements. 

A.    Permits Required. Except as exempted in Section 16.152.040, no person shall do any grading 

without first obtaining a grading permit from the building official. A separate permit shall be 

obtained for each site, and may cover both excavations and fills. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 16 of 57



E.     Regular Grading Requirements. Each application for a grading permit shall be accompanied 

by a plan in sufficient clarity to indicate the nature and extent of the work. 

Staff Finding: These criteria will be met by conditions of approval. 

• The applicant has not yet provided a grading plan, so staff cannot accurately determine the size 

of the area that will be disturbed. If the area meets or exceeds one acre, a 1200-C permit from 

the State Department of Environmental Quality will be required.  

 

Chapter 16.192 Large Scale Developments 
16.192.010 Approval Process. 

A.    Large-Scale Development. A development which is: 

3.     A commercial, industrial, public or institutional development which within two calendar 

years will use two or more acres of land or will have buildings with 10,000 square feet or 

more of floor area; 

B.     Review Type. 

1.     Type III: “1, 2, 3, or combined 1 and 4.” 

Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

• The project meets the definition of a Large-Scale Development, and is subject to a Type III 

review. 

 

16.192.020 General Provisions. 

A.    No permit shall be issued or conditional use application approved for a use defined as a large-

scale development until the Community Development Director or hearings body (as applicable) 

determines that all applicable sections of this Code have been satisfied. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

• The “permit” referenced above is not the Site Design Review approval. Site Design review is not 

a permit, per se, but is the mechanism by which the Community Development Director or the 

hearings body determines satisfaction of the Code requirements. The Site Design Review process 

described below ensures this satisfaction, but that process does not directly permit the development. The 

applicant has submitted a Type I Permitted Use/Similar Use application, and will need subsequent  

grading permits and  building permits.   

 

16.192.030 Soil Suitability. 

A.    Unless the Community Development Director (Type I or Type II) or hearings body (Type III) 

determines that an adequate detailed soil survey has already been undertaken for the entire portion 

of the site proposed for development, the owner or developer shall have a new soil survey of the site 

prepared to determine if construction on the site would be hazardous to facilities on the parcel or 

to nearby property due to the load bearing capacity of the soils, the potential for wind or water 

erosion, or the wetness or slope characteristics of the soil. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met with a condition of approval if the Public Works Director 

determines that a soil survey is necessary. 

 

16.192.040 Stormwater Management. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 17 of 57



The applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan, which shall meet the criteria of Chapter 

16.140 of this Code, to the City of Warrenton Planning and Building Department for review for the 

proposed development that is prepared by a registered engineer currently licensed in the State of 

Oregon. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met with a condition of approval. 

 

16.192.050 Utilities. 

A.    The applicant shall provide detailed information and analyses, as necessary, to the City of 

Warrenton to allow the City to assess the expected impacts of the development on the capacity of 

Warrenton’s water, sewer, and transportation. The development will only be allowed if sufficient 

capacity exists or suitable evidence indicates it will exist prior to completion of the development 

construction. In deciding the sufficiency of capacity, consideration will be given to possible 

increases in flows resulting from activities of existing system users and from facilities which are 

likely to be built due to the proposed use, but are not part of the development. 

B.     On-site water supply, sewage disposal, access and circulation, shall be approved by the 

Warrenton Public Works Director. The development will not be allowed unless satisfactory 

provisions are made for these facilities. Satisfactory provisions, in part, mean that the size of any 

water lines, sewer lines, access roads, and drainage-ways will be sufficient to meet the needs of the 

development and, where desirable, accommodate growth in other areas. Suitable arrangement, 

including dedication of land or use of easements, shall be made so that the City will be able to 

maintain appropriate water, sewer, street, and drainage facilities. The construction of lengthy 

pressure-forced sewer lines to the site which by-pass undeveloped properties will be discouraged. 

C.     Utility lines in the development (including electricity, communications, street lighting and 

cable television) shall be placed underground. Appurtenances and associated equipment such as 

surface mounted terminal boxes and meter cabinets may be placed above ground. 

D.    All utilities shall be installed in conformance with this Code and City construction standards. 

Staff Finding: These criteria will be met by conditions of approval. 

 

16.192.080 Signs. 

All signs of any type within the development are subject to design review and approval by the 

Community Development Director or hearings body (Type III). The City shall consider each sign on its 

merits based on the aesthetic impact on the area, potential traffic hazards, and need for the sign. No 

sign shall violate provisions in Chapter 16.144. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

 

16.192.090 Additional Provisions. 

A.    The City of Warrenton may charge the applicant additional fees, as necessary, to cover the 

cost of reviewing surveys, reports, plans, or construction methods required to comply with the 

provisions of this Code. 

B.     The City of Warrenton may require the owner or developer to post a performance bond to 

assure that improvements required to comply with the provisions of this section are completed in 

accordance with the plans and specifications as approved by the Community Development 

Director, and/or hearings body. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 18 of 57



C.     Proposals for large-scale developments shall be reviewed for consistency with all applicable 

sections of this Code prior to issuance of a development permit, including grading, filling, or 

building permits. 

D.    The standards of this section are required in addition to development review (Type I and II) 

and site design review (Type III) standards of Chapter 16.212. 

Staff Finding: These criteria will be met by conditions of approval. 

 

Chapter 16.208 Types of Applications and Review Procedures 
16.208.020 Description of Permit/Decision-Making Procedures. 

C.     Type III Procedure (Quasi-Judicial). Type III decisions are made by: 

1.     The Planning Commission after the mailing of a public notice and publication of notice 

of the hearing. 

Staff Finding: These criteria are met. 

• The mailing and publication of public notices of the hearing are described on Page 1. 

 

16.208.050 Type III Procedure (Quasi-Judicial). 

A.    Pre-application Conference. A pre-application conference is required for all Type III 

applications. The requirements and procedures for a pre-application conference are described in 

Section 16.208.070. 

Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

• A pre-application conference was held on June 10, 2021. The pre-application conference memo 

is attached for reference. 

 

B.     Application Requirements. 

    2.     Content. Type III applications shall: 

 e.     Include an impact study for all Type III applications. The impact study shall 

quantify/assess the effect of the development on public facilities and services. The study 

shall address, at a minimum, the transportation system, including pedestrian ways and 

bikeways, the drainage system, the parks system, the water system, the sewer system, and 

the noise impacts of the development. For each public facility system and type of impact, 

the study shall propose improvements necessary to meet City standards and to minimize 

the impact of the development on the public at large, public facilities systems, and affected 

private property users. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

• The application packet does not contain an impact study as described by the code provision. 

  

Chapter 16.212 Site Design Review 
16.212.020 Applicability. 

A.    Site design review shall be required for all new developments and modifications of existing 

developments, except for regular maintenance, repair and replacement of materials (e.g., roof, 

siding, awnings, etc.), parking resurfacing, and similar maintenance and repair shall be exempt. 

This applies to all development within the city limits of Warrenton. Site design review ensures 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 19 of 57



compliance with the basic development standards of the land use district (building setbacks, lot 

coverage, maximum building height, etc.), as well as the more detailed design standards and public 

improvement requirements in Divisions 2 and 3. 

 

16.212.040 Site Design Review. 

A.    Application Review Procedure. 

1.     Site Design Review—Determination of Type II and Type III Applications. Applications 

for site design review shall be subject to Type II or Type III review, based on the following 

criteria: 

b.     Commercial, industrial, public/semi-public, and institutional buildings (including 

building additions) with: 

ii.     More than 10,000 square feet of gross floor area or developing two or more 

acres of land shall be reviewed as a Type III application. 

Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

 

B.     Application Submission Requirements. All of the following information (subsections (B)(1) 

through (7) of this section) is required for site design review application submittal: 

1.     Proposed Site Plan. The site plan shall contain the following information: 

a.     The proposed development site, including boundaries, dimensions, and gross area. 

b.     Natural land features identified which are proposed to be removed or modified by 

the development, including modifications to existing drainage patterns. 

c.     The location and dimensions of all proposed public and private streets, drives, 

rights-of-way, and easements. 

d.     The location and dimensions of all existing and proposed structures, utilities, 

pavement and other improvements on the site. Setback dimensions for all existing and 

proposed buildings shall be provided on the site plan. 

e.     The location and dimensions of entrances and exits to the site for vehicular, 

pedestrian, and bicycle access. 

f.      The location and dimensions of all parking and vehicle circulation areas (show 

striping for parking stalls and wheel stops, as applicable), and proposed paving 

materials. 

g.     Pedestrian and bicycle circulation areas, including sidewalks, internal pathways, 

pathway connections to adjacent properties, and any bicycle lanes or trails. 

h.     Loading and service areas for waste disposal, loading and delivery. 

i.      Outdoor recreation spaces, common areas, plazas, outdoor seating, street furniture, 

and similar improvements. 

j.      Location, type, and height of outdoor lighting. 

k.     Location of mail boxes, if known. 

l.      Locations, sizes, and types of signs (shall comply with Chapter 16.144). 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 20 of 57



m.    The Community Development Director may require studies or exhibits prepared by 

qualified professionals to address specific site features (e.g., traffic, noise, environmental 

features, site drainage, natural hazards, etc.). 

n.     The applicant’s entire tax lot and the surrounding property to a distance sufficient 

to determine the location of the development in the City, and the relationship between the 

proposed development site and adjacent property and development. The property 

boundaries, dimensions and gross area shall be identified. 

o.     Identification of slopes greater than 10%. 

p.     The location, condition (paved, gravel unimproved, etc.) and width of all public and 

private streets, drives, sidewalks, pathways, rights-of-way, and easements on the site and 

adjoining the site. 

q.     Any areas identified as located in a designated floodplain and/or floodway. 

r.      Depict any wetland and riparian areas, streams and/or wildlife habitat areas. 

s.      Site features such as pavement, areas having unique views, and drainage ways, 

canals and ditches. 

t.      Any designated historic and cultural resources areas on the site and/or adjacent 

parcels or lots. 

u.     The location, size and type of trees and other vegetation on the property. 

v.     North arrow, scale, names and addresses of all property owners. 

w.    Name and address of applicant, project designer, engineer, architect, surveyor, 

and/or planner, if applicable. 

Staff Finding: These criteria are met or will be met with conditions of approval. 

• The application requires additional minor details for subsections d (pavement), f (circulation), g 

(sidewalks), h, l, p (public street width), and u. 

  

2.     Architectural Drawings. Architectural drawings shall be submitted showing the following 

information from subparagraphs a through c of this paragraph 2, and shall comply with 

Division 3: 

a.     Building elevations with building height and width dimensions. 

b.     Building materials, color and type. 

c.     The name of the architect or designer. 

Staff Finding: These criteria are met or will be met by a condition of approval 

• The information under items a & c is contained in the submittal. The applicant did not provide 

details under subsection b. 

 

3.     Preliminary Grading Plan. A preliminary grading plan prepared by a registered engineer 

shall be required for developments which would result in the grading (cut or fill) of 1,000 cubic 

yards or greater. The preliminary grading plan shall show the location and extent to which 

grading will take place, indicating general changes to contour lines, slope ratios, slope 

stabilization proposals, and location and height of retaining walls, if proposed. Surface water 

detention and treatment plans may also be required, in accordance with Chapter 16.140. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 21 of 57



Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

• The applicant stated that the site is flat and the amount of cut and fill will not meet or exceed the 

1,000 cubic yard threshold. However, a grading plan is still required per Section 16.152.060.E. 

 

4.     Landscape Plan. A landscape plan is required and shall comply with Chapter 16.124. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met by a condition of approval. 

 

7.     Letter or narrative report documenting compliance with the applicable approval criteria 

contained in subsection C of this section. 

Staff Finding: This criterion is met. 

 

C.     Review Criteria. The Community Development Director shall make written findings with 

respect to all of the following criteria… 

1.     The application is complete, as determined in accordance with Chapter 16.208 and 

subsection B of this section. 

Staff Finding: This criterion will be met with conditions of approval. 

• The application was originally deemed sufficiently complete for the purpose of site design 

review on July 22, 2021.  

 

2.     The application complies with all of the applicable provisions of the underlying land use 

district (Division 2), including building and yard setbacks, lot area and dimensions, density 

and floor area, lot coverage, building height, building orientation, architecture, and other 

special standards as may be required for certain land uses. 

Staff Finding: These criteria are met. 

• The applicable development provisions and standards for uses in the I-1 Zone are covered above 

under Section 16.60.040. 

 

16.212.060 Development in Accordance with Permit Approval. 

Development shall not commence until the applicant has received all of the appropriate land use and 

development approvals (i.e., site design review approval) and building permits. Construction of public 

improvements shall not commence until the City has approved all required public improvement plans 

(e.g., utilities, streets, public land dedication, etc.). The City may require the applicant to enter into a 

development agreement (e.g., for phased developments and developments with required off-site public 

improvements), and may require bonding or other assurances for improvements, in accordance with 

Section 16.212.050. 

Staff Finding: These criteria will be met by conditions of approval. 

 

 

CONCLUSION, RECOMMENDATION, AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

Conclusion and Recommendation 

The findings above demonstrate that the proposed design of the Medix Ambulance Dispatch development 

is generally consistent with the I-1 zoning district development standards and the design standards of the 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 22 of 57



development code. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve SDR-21-3 subject to the 

following conditions of approval: 

 

Conditions of Approval 

Prior to applying for a grading permit or building permits: 

1. Provide a modified site plan or plans to include the following information: 

a. The location and description of a trash receptacle area to comply with WMC 16.60.040 

b. Increase the width of the travel surface within the access easement to twenty feet, delineated 

with two ten-foot-wide travel lanes. 

c. Include a sidewalk and planter strip along SE Dolphin as required by 16.136.020.J and 

16.212.040.1.g. 

d. Indicate the locations and types of streetlights as required by 16.136.020.x. 

e. Indicate the paving surfaces and dimensions of the circulation areas in the parking lot, loading 

and service areas and turnaround as required by 16.212.B.1.d, f and h. 

f. Identify the location, sizes and types of signs as required by 16.212.B.1.l.  

g. Indicate the condition and width of the public street as required by 16.212.B.1.p. 

h. Indicate the location, size, and types of trees and other vegetation to be removed or retained as 

required by 16.212.B.1.u. This information may be included in the landscaping plan.  

2. Provide a copy of the access easement recorded in Book 908 page 601. 

3. Provide a description or samples of building materials, color, and type as required by 

16.212.040.B.2. 

4. Provide a landscaping plan as required by WMC 16.124 and 16.212.040.B.4. 

5. Provide a stormwater and surface water management plan as required by 16.140 and 16.192.040. 

6. Provide a preliminary grading plan to demonstrate that the total area that will be disturbed by 

grading or construction will not meet or exceed one acre. If that area meets or exceeds one acre, a 

1200-C permit will be required from the State Department of Environmental Quality. 

7. Provide an impact study as described and required by 16.192.050 and 16.208.050.B.2. 

8. If required by the Public Works Director, provide a soil survey as described in 16.192.030.A. 

9. Demonstrate that all required public facilities are in place or are guaranteed as required by Section 

136.010.D. 

10. Demonstrate compliance with the comments and conditions contained in the Pre-Application 

Memo of June 25, 2021. 

11. Obtain written staff approval of documents provided to satisfy any and all conditions of approval. 

Suggested Motion: 

I motion to approve the Site Design Review SDR 21-3 for the new Medix Ambulance Dispatch Facility, 

located at 2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, based on the findings in the staff report, Conditions of Approval, and 

discussion. 

ATTACHMENTS 

• Site Design Review Application 

• Site Design Review Narrative 

• Site Design Review Plan Set 

• Pre-Application Memo 

• Mailed Public Notice 

• Published Public Notice 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 23 of 57



CITY OF WARRENTON
PLANNING AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT

i":: /:-.;/'

To be accompanied by a Site Plan Map, copy of property deed
and if applicable, a Letter of Authorization.

01-TICE USE ONLY
FILE H ^2_W -2^-3 FEE $r[6T-££:

ZONING DISTRICT

RIiCEIPT#^r^/%P/?>

DATE RECEIVED ^2Q/Zt

The site plan review process is a method for assuring compliance with the City ofWarrenton Comprehensive Plan
and Development Code, and to ensure wise utilization of natural resources, and the proper integration of land uses

utilizing appropriate landscaping or screening measures. A commercial enterprise must also consider traffic

circulation patterns, off-street parking, refuse containers, safe exit and entrance to the business, building height,

dust control, future widening of major thoroughfares, and signs. Please answer the questions as completely as

possible.

Legal Description of the Subject Property :Township_08N_, Range_10_, Secfion(s)_33_, Tax Lot(s)
81033AAOI100

Property street address _2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

I/WE, THE UNDERSIGNED APPLICANT(S) OR AUTHORIZED AGENT, AFFIRM BY MY/OUR
SIGNATURE(S) THAT THE INFORMATION CONTINED IN THE FOREGOING APPLICATION AND
ASSOCIATED SUBMISSIONS IS TRUE AND CORRECT.

APPLICANT:

Printed Name:_cA^dor Consulting, LLC / Greta Holmstrom

Signature:
^t/^

Address: 3296 NE 13th Place

Date: 07/16/2021

Phone: 360-721-5745

City/State/Zip:_HiUsboro, OR 97124, Fax:

PROPERTY OWNER (if different from Applicant):

Printed Name: JVI^x Ambulance Services / Duane Mullins
}f

Signature: Date: 07/16/2021

Address:_2325 SE Dolphin Ave,

E-mail Address:

Phone:

City/Sfate/Zip:_Warrenton, OR 97146 Fax:

commercial site design application
October 2018

5.A

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 24 of 57



1. In detail, please describe your proposal:
Replace existing facility that provides ambulance dispatch facility including emergency and medical transport.

Improvements include new two-story 13,607 square foot building, additional parking and frontage improvements.

2. Describe what type of business, commodity sold or manufactured, or service you are proposing.

Emergency and medical transport facility

Current inimber of employees: _91

Projected number of customers per day _n/a

Days of operation_all days_ Hours of operation_24 hours / day
Number ofshipments/ddivenes per day _infrequent_ per week

By what method will these be arriving/sent? _small box trucks

3. Does tins property have an existing business or businesses? _existing medical emergency transport facility

Ifyes» please list the business names and their addresses, and note these businesses on your site plan map.

The existing structure will be demolished and replaced

4. Is there a residence or residences on this property?_no

If yes, please list the number of residences and please show these structures on your site plan map.

5. Availability of services: City water_x__, City sewer _\_

6.If you are an existing business, are materials or merchandise currently being stored on site?

n/a

Where and how do you propose to store materials or merchandise for sale or processing?

n/a

7. What percentage of the property is currently landscaped?_approximately 80%

What percentage of the property do you propose to landscape as part of this project? _approximately 50%

8. How do you intend to irrigate the existing and proposed landscaping?

sprinklers

9. Signs require the submittal of a separate application, which may be submitted In conjunction with this site plan
application.

commercial site design application
Oclober 2018

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 25 of 57



10. Please explain how you propose to provide for the drainage of this properly, or explain why no additional
drainage consideration is necessary.

There is an existing stormwater facitify on the adjoining parcet to the west that will be utilized

. Please provide the type of development on the neighboring properties.

North: industrial
South: industrial
East: industrial
West: road

12. Provide samples of the building materials for the exterior of the building with detail description of where each
type and color will be used in the construction and finishing of the building.

13. Will all parking foryour business be provided on the property? Yes_x_No _ All parking
must be shown on your site plan map. Ifoff-street parking is to be provided on another property, please attach
a copy of the parking easement or agreement from the property owner; or will off-street parking be provided
along the abutting street.

H. How does this request comply with the Warrenton Development Code Cliapter 16, Section 16.60.40 (General
Industrial)?
Section 16.60.020 Permitted Uses
F. Storage and Distribution Facilities (i.e. truck terminals)
P. Government buildings and uses

V. Similar uses to those listed in this section

MedEx provides advanced life support response and emergency / non-emergency medical transportation (which are
defined by the state of Oregon as essential services) to al! of Clatsop County and parts of Pacific County. Medix
provides these services under an exclusive franchise with Ciatsop County, therefore serving a government function
/use.

Section 16.60.040 Development Standards

The setback requirement of 1 0" from property lines is exceeded. The maximum building height of 45 feet is not
exceeded. The development will comply with all applicable code requirements.

15. Orientation of proposed building(s) (see Section 16.116.030 in the Warrenton Development Code)
The primary building entrance is oriented to the north, visible from the street and connected with a pedestrian route.

16. Please address (on separate sheet of paper) all applicable sections of Design Standards (copy attached) out of
the Wan'enton Development Code.

The proposal is not a large retail establishment as defined in Chapter 16.116 Design Standards, therefore these
sections do not apply. Response to requirements of other Chapters is attached.

^!^;^;^:^!^;^!^;^:^:^;^;^;^;^:^:^:

PLEASE UNDERSTAND THAT THIS APPLICATION WILL NOT BE OFFICIALLY ACCEPTED
UNTIL DEPARTMENT STAFF HAS DETERMINED THAT THE APPLICATION IS

COMPLETELY FILLED OUT AND THE SITE PLAN MAP REQUIREMENTS HAVE BEEN
COMPLETED.

commercial site design Bppiication
October 2018

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 26 of 57



Return Application To:

City ofWarrenton Phone: 503-861-0920
Planning and Building Department Fax: 503-861-2351
PO Box 250
225 S. Main Street
Warrenton, Oregon 97146

MAP INSTRUCTIONS AND CHECKLIST

A Site Plan Map, which shows al! existing and proposed structures and parking areas, must accompany tliis
application. The following checklist identifies the specific information which should be included on this map.

x_Title the map "Commercial Site Design".

x The map may be drawn on 8 Vi x 11 or 8/2x14 inch white paper.

x_Township:, Range, Section and Tax Lot number of the subject property(ies) shall be included.

x_North arrow, date, and map scale in one inch intervals (1" = 20') shall be noted.

x Shape, dimensions, and square footage of the parcel shall be shown. Draw the property line with a solid
black line anct label adjacent street(s), if any.

x_Idenfify existing and proposed easements with a dotted line.

x_Identify the location and direction of alt water courses and drainage ways, as well as the location of the 100-
year floodplain, if applicable.

x_Illustrate all existing buildings and their sizes.

x__U!nstrate all proposed new construction with dashed lines (include dimensions).

x_Illustrate parking area with number of spaces and access drive areas. If off-street parking is to be provided,

even in part, on another property, please show its location on your site plan map» and attacli a copy of the

parking easement or agreement from the adjoining property owner.

x_JHustrate the entrance and exit points to tlie property, pattern of traffic How, loading and unloading area,
sidewalks and bike paths.

x_Illustrate the existing or proposed location, height, and material of all fences and walls.

x_Iliustrate existing or proposed trash and garbage container locations, including type of screening.

x Name of the person who prepared the map.

x_Location, type and height of outdoor lighting.

commercial site design application
October 2018

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 27 of 57



x Location of mailboxes if known.

x_Locations, sizes, and types of signs (shall comply with Chapter 16.144 of the Wan'enton Development Code).

x__Map shall show entire tax lot plus surrounding properties.

n/a_Identification of slopes greater than 10%.

x location, condition and widtli of all public and private streets, drives, sidewalks, pathways, right-of-ways, and

easements on the site and adjoining the site.

n/a_Identify designated flood hazard area(s).

n/a_Show wetland and riparian areas, streams and/or wildlife areas.

n/a_Any designated historic and cultural resources areas on the site and/or adjacent parceis or lots.

x_Location, size and type of trees and other vegetation on the property.

conimercia! site design application
October 2018

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 28 of 57



Ardor Consulting LLC    3296 NE 13th Place, Hillsboro, OR 97124   T (360) 721-5745   E gholmstrom@yahoo.com    W www.ardorconsulting.net 

MEDIX DISPATCH FACILITY

Site Design Review 

5.B

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 29 of 57



Ardor Consulting LLC 

Site Design Review Request 2 

Supporting Materials   

Signed Application 

Narrative Response to Approval Criteria 

Plans 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

   

 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 30 of 57



Ardor Consulting LLC 

Zone Change Request 3 

 

Project Overview 
Medix Ambulance Services provides existing emergency and medical dispatch 
services that benefit all of Clatsop County and parts of Pacific County from it’s 
Warrenton facility. The facility is outdated and in need of expansion. The owners 
propose to replace the existing building with a new, two-story, 13,607 square foot 
facility. Improvements onsite will include additional parking expanded from the existing 
parking lot, as well as frontage improvements.  

Existing facilities associated with this development also exist on an off-site parcel to 
the west, including a garage, trash facilities, fueling area, stormwater facilities and an 
emergency turnaround.  

As shown in the following response to approval criteria, all requirements of the City are 
met. 

Approval Criteria 

DESIGN STANDARDS 
16.116.030 Architectural and Site Design Standards.  
 
RESPONSE:   
The site is located along SE Dolphin, a commercial corridor. However, the Architectural 
and Site Design Standards do not apply because the development is not proposing 
greater than 30,000 square feet of floor area or 100 feet of façade along a street 
frontage.  
 
16.120.020  Vehicular Access 
 

RESPONSE: 
Subsection K – Driveway Openings and Widths 
The development will use an existing driveway from SE Dolphin Avenue. The 
driveway width is approximately 20’ at it’s intersection with SE Dolphin Avenue.  

 
Subsection L – Fire Access and Circulation 
The existing driveway leads to a turnaround just to the west of the site that has 
been approved by the fire department.  

 
Subsection N – Vision Clearance  
Site Plan A-100 shows the vision clearance triangles that are unobstructed.  

 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 31 of 57



Ardor Consulting LLC 

Site Design Review Request 4 

16.120.030.A Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
 

Subsection 1 – Continuous Pathways 
There is a continuous pathway through the site from SE Dolphin Ave to the main 
building entrance, south to the garage structure. In addition, there is a path from 
the southern parking lot to the garage structure.  

 
Subsection 2 – Safe, Direct and Convenient Pathways.  
A new pedestrian route will extend from SE Dolphin Avenue to the main building 
entrance, providing a reasonable and safe connection for pedestrians and 
bicyclists.  

 
16.124 Landscaping, Street Trees, Fences and Walls  
 

Subsection 16.124.060 Landscape Conservation 
No part of the site is located in a wetland, therefore these standards do not 
apply.  

 
Subsection 16.124.070 New Landscaping 
The site has many large existing trees that are a priority for preservation with this 
development. The code requires a minimum of 20% of the site to be 
landscaped, but this is exceeded with over 25% landscaping. Natural vegetation 
is proposed to be retained. Groundcover will be provided in areas that are 
disturbed.  

 
The existing parking area is being expanded, and this includes adding 
landscape islands in rows of parking to not exceed 12 cars without and island.  

 
16.128 Vehicle and Bicycle Parking 
 
 Table 16.128.030.A Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Medical Dispatch Facility is not listed as a use in the parking requirement table. 
However, general industrial uses require 1 space per 2 employees on the largest 
shift or for each 700 square feet of floor area, whichever is less. Medix employs 
91 people during a 24-hour period, among several shifts. The proposed site plan 
includes 55 parking spaces which is more than 1 space per 2 total employees, 
and far greater than required in any given shift based on the city’s parking 
requirements.  

 
 Table 16.128.040.A Bicycle Parking Requirements 

Medical Dispatch Facility is not listed as a use in the parking table. However, for 
other uses, 1 bicycle space is required per 10 vehicle spaces. There are 55 
vehicle parking spaces, so 6 bicycle parking spaces are required. The site plan 
includes 3 short term and 3 long-term bicycle parking spaces.   

 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 32 of 57



Ardor Consulting LLC 

Zone Change Request 5 

16.140 Stormwater and Surface Water Management 
 

Subsection 16.140.020 Developments Must Drain Properly 
The site includes an associated parcel to the west that is developed with a 
garage, fueling area and emergency turnaround, as well as a stormwater facility 
that serves both parcels. This stormwater facility has been sized to 
accommodate the future expansion of the dispatch building. A complete 
engineering analysis will be provided with construction drawings.  

 
16.144 Signs 
 
 Subsection 16.144.040 Sign Requirements 

A new sign will be provided south of the driveway to replace the existing 
wooden sign. Further design details will be included in future permits.  

 
16.192 Large Scale Developments 
 

Subsection 16.192.030 Soil Suitability 
The site is presently occupied by a structure of the same use that will be 
demolished in the area of future development. It is not anticipated that a soil 
suitability analysis will be required.  

 
 Subsection 16.192.040 Stormwater Management 

The site includes an associated parcel to the west that is developed with a 
garage, fueling area and emergency turnaround, as well as a stormwater facility 
that serves both parcels. This stormwater facility has been sized to 
accommodate the future expansion of the dispatch building. A complete 
engineering analysis will be provided with construction drawings.  

 
 Subsection 16.192.050 Utilities 

The site is served by public water and a septic system. With the new 
development, the site will continue to be served by public water, and will 
connect to public sewer that is available in SE Dolphin Avenue. No impacts to 
service are anticipated.  
 
Subsection 16.192.060 Schools 
This public service use will not impact schools, other than providing potential 
services to them.  
 
Subsection 16.192.070 Landscape Suitability 
The site contains several large trees and groundcover that are intended for 
retention with development. Areas that are disturbed will be reseeded with 
groundcover. Landscape islands in the parking lot will be planted with trees and 
groundcover.  
 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 33 of 57



Ardor Consulting LLC 

Site Design Review Request 6 

Subsection 16.192.080 Signs 
An LED sign will replace the existing wooden sign at the site entrance on SE 
Dolphin Street. Future permitting will include details of this sign.  
Subsection 16.192.090 Additional Provisions 
The applicant acknowledges the review process associated with this 
application. 

Conclusion 
The proposed development meets or exceeds all review criteria established by City of 
Warrenton. Therefore, approval of the application is requested. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 34 of 57



N

PROJECT 
LOCATION

S
E

 D
O

L
P

H
IN

 A
V

E
N

U
E

H
W

Y
 1

0
1

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

0
:5

7
 A

M

A-001

COVER SHEET

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-001

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES

SHEET
NUMBER SHEET NAME REV # REV DATE COMMENT

A-001 COVER SHEET

A-002 EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN

A-003 LIGHTING PLAN

A-100 SITE PLAN

A-101 FIRST LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

A-101C FIRST LEVEL CEILING PLAN

A-102 UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

A-103 ROOF PLAN

A-201 BLDG ELEVATIONS

A-202 BLDG ELEVATIONS

PROPERTY:

Project Address:

Tax Map & Lot:

Zone:

Lot Size:

81033AA01100

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue
Warrenton, OR 97146

2.15 acres

I-1

APPLICABLE CODES:

2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code
2019 Oregon Mechanical Specialty Code

2019 Oregon Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code
2019 Oregon Fire Code

2017 Oregon Electrical Specialty Code

2017 Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code;

OCCUPANCY CLASSIFICATIONS:

S-2 Storage (Ambulance Garage)

A-2 Assembly (Conference)
B Office Areas

CONSTRUCTION TYPE: VB

FULLY SPRINKLERED?: Yes per NFPA 13

BLDG AREA:

First Floor: 10,957 sf
Second Floor:  2,650 sf

Total Bldg Area: 13,607 sf

BLDG HEIGHT:

Proposed: 28 feet ( 2-story)

BLDG & OCCUPANCY SEPARATIONS:

B, A-2 and S-2 together mixed non-separated. Most restrictive 

occupancy applies within each separated area.

FIRE ALARM:

Smoke detection required?: No
Manual pull stations required?: No

Notification appliances required?: Yes

PLUMBING FIXTURES:

Water Closets Req'd: 3m/3f
Water Closets Provided: 2WC+Um/3f

Lavs Req'd: 2m/2f

Lavs Provided: 3m/3f

BLDG CODE DATA DRAWING INDEX

VICINITY MAP

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 35 of 57



EXSTG SHED TO 
BE REMOVED
576 SF

EXSTG OFFICE BLDG 
TO BE REMOVED
2976 SF

EXSTG SHED TO 
BE REMOVED
1003 SF

EXSTG SHOP BLDG TO REMAIN
4000 SF

EXSTG TRASH TO 
BE REMOVED

EXSTG SEPTIC TO 
BE REMOVED

EXSTG PARKING & PAVING TO BE REMOVED

EXSTG TREES TO BE REMOVED

S
E

 D
O

L
P

H
IN

 A
V

E
N

U
E

ENTRANCE DRIVE

EXSTG PARKING & 
PAVING TO BE REMOVED

PROP LINE

PROP LINE

P
R

O
P

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

 L
IN

E

2
0
'-
0
"

EXSTG SIGN TO 
BE REMOVED

A
C

C
E

S
S

 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T
 

P
E

R
 B

K
 9

0
8

 
P

G
 6

0
1

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

0
:5

8
 A

M

A-002

EXISTING

CONDITIONS PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-002

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

No. Date Description

2021-01-15

 2021-01-15

 1" = 20'-0"

EXISTING / DEMO PLAN

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 36 of 57



S
E

 D
O

L
P

H
IN

 A
V

E
N

U
E

ENTRANCE DRIVE

LED DECORATIVE 
LUMINAIRES AT 
PRIMARY BUILDING 
ENTRANCE

LED WALL PACK 
LUMINAIRES AT 
EMPLOYEE ADA 
BUILDING ENTRANCE

SHORT TERM 
BIKE PARKING

LONG TERM 
BIKE PARKING 
ENCLOSURE 

NEW LED SIGN

LED LUMINAIRES AT 
COVERED PATIO

LED BOLLARD 
LUMINAIRES
AT PEDESTRIAN 
PATHWAY TYP

LED ROADWAY LUMINAIRES 
WITH 25' POLES AT 
ENTRANCE DRIVE TYP

LED WALL PACK 
LUMINAIRES AT 
GARAGE DOORS TYP

LED ROADWAY 
LUMINAIRES WITH 
14' POLES AT 
PARKING LOT TYP

PROP LINE

PROP LINE

P
R

O
P

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

 L
IN

E

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

0
:5

9
 A

M

A-003

LIGHTING PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-003

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

No. Date Description

 1" = 20'-0"

THIS PROJECT / NEW / LIGHTING PLAN

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 37 of 57



63'-10"

4
6
'-
1
"

32
'-0

"

14'-0"

S
E

 D
O

L
P

H
IN

 A
V

E
N

U
E

ENTRANCE DRIVE

EXISTING BLDG

PROP LINE

PROP LINE

P
R

O
P

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

 L
IN

E

1
5
'-
0
"

A
C

C
E

S
S

 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T
 

P
E

R
 B

K
 9

0
8

 
P

G
 6

0
1

2
0
'-
0
"

1
5
'-
0
"

1
5
'-
0
"

15'-0"

VISION 
CLEARANCE

VISION 
CLEARANCE

6' (MIN) WIDE 
PEDESTRIAN 
CONNECTION 
FOR ACCESS

PRIMARY 
BUILDING 
ENTRANCE

EMPLOYEE 
ADA BUILDING 
ENTRANCE

SHORT TERM 
BIKE PARKING 
(3 SPACES)

R = 50'

LONG TERM 
BIKE PARKING 
ENCLOSURE 
(3 SPACES)

1
9

7
.7

'

1
9

7
.7

'

441'

441'

NEW SIGN

LANDSCAPED 
ISLAND 4' (MIN) 
WITH TREE TYP

7
8
'-
4
"

14'-0"

6
'5
'

8'

6'

5
'

5'

RESERVED

PARKING

VAN

ACCESSIBLE

PAINTED METAL (TYP) OREGON 
TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION SIGN NO. R7-8

OREGON TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION SIGN NO. R7-8P AS 
APPLICABLE (PARKING SPACE TO THE 
LEFT OF STRIPED LANE)

7
'-
0

"

C
L

E
A

R
 T

O
 

L
O

W
E

S
T

 S
IG

N

TUBE SIGN POST 2" 
GALVANIZED PIPE OR 2" SQ x 12 
GAUGE

(DELETE POST AND FOOTING 
IF SIGN IS WALL MOUNTED)

TOP OF CONCRETE 
SIDEWALK OR A/C PAVING 
AS OCCURS

12"x12"x18" DEEP CONCRETE 
FOOTING (MINIMUM)

ACCESS AISLE

PARKING

PAINTED METAL (TYP) OREGON 
TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION SIGN NO. OR7-9

7
'-
0

"

C
L

E
A

R
 T

O
 

L
O

W
E

S
T

 S
IG

N

TUBE SIGN POST 2" 
GALVANIZED PIPE OR 2" SQ x 12 
GAUGE

(DELETE POST AND FOOTING 
IF SIGN IS WALL MOUNTED)

TOP OF CONCRETE 
SIDEWALK OR A/C PAVING 
AS OCCURS

12"x12"x18" DEEP CONCRETE 
FOOTING (MINIMUM)

NO

OREGON TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION SIGN NO. OR7-9a 
WHERE REQD (WHEN SIGN IS 
PLACED TO ONE SIDE OF 
ACCESS AISLE)

9'-0" MIN

ACCESS AISLE

8'-0" MIN

SIGN LOCATION

MIN

2'-0"

MIN

2'-0"

WHEEL STOP (IF APPLICABLE)

F
U

L
L

 L
E

N
G

T
H

 O
F

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
P

A
C

E

PAVEMENT MARKING 
PER OTC GUIDELINES

17'-0"

WHITE 4" WIDE LINES

2% (MAX) SLOPE OVER 
ENTIRE PARKING AND 

AISLE AREA

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE NOTES:
• VERTICAL CLEARANCE NOT LESS THAN 98" 

OVER ENTIRE PARKING AND AISLE AREA

NO

3
6

.0
0

°

2
'-
0

" 
T

Y
P

PARKIN
G

SIGN R7-8 
OVER R7-8a

SIGN OR7-9 
AND OR7-9aA-100

2
A-100

3

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

0
:5

9
 A

M

A-100

SITE PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-100

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1" = 20'-0"1 THIS PROJECT / SETBACKS / PARKING PLAN

No. Date Description

VEHICLE PARKING:

Standard: 51
ADA Van Accessible:   1

ADA Standard:   3
Total: 55

BICYCLE PARKING:

Short Term: 3

Long Term: 3
Total: 6

PARKING

 3/4" = 1'-0"2 ADA PARKING SIGN
 3/4" = 1'-0"3 ADA PARKING SIGN

 1/4" = 1'-0"4 PARKING SPACE REQS

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 38 of 57



UP

UP

154 sf

GYM ETC

139 sf

OFFICE

140 sf

OFFICE

140 sf

OFFICE

248 sf

TRAINING

72 sf

SLEEPING
72 sf

SLEEPING

748 sf

DAYROOM

86 sf

RISER RM

206 sf

OFFICE

168 sf

OFFICE

202 sf

OFFICE

93 sf

STORAGE

349 sf

CONFERENCE

99 sf

MEN

90 sf

WOMEN

124 sf

MECH.

162 sf

IT

2135 sf

4 BAY

83 sf

MED.

86 sf

RR

50 sf

STORAGE

53 sf

ELEV
42 sf

EQUIP.

52 sf

STOR.

109 sf

RECEPTION

322 sf

WAITING

69 sf

COATS

66 sf

RR

1311 sf

CONFERENCE

79 sf

4

STAIR 1

STAIR 2

66 sf

3
64 sf

2
75 sf

1

76 sf

5

72 sf

6

75 sf

10

64 sf

7

57 sf

9

72 sf

8

71 sf

11

78 sf

12

70 sf

13
87 sf

STORAGE

45 sf

UTILITY

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

1
:0

1
 A

M

A-101

FIRST LEVEL FLOOR

PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-101

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1/8" = 1'-0"

FIRST LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 39 of 57



8'-0"

8'-0"

10'-0"

8'-0"

9'-0"
9'-0"

10'-0"

9'-0"

9'-0" 9'-0" 9'-0"

8'-0" 8'-0"

10'-0"

8'-0"

8'-0"

8'-0"

8'-0" 8'-0"

10'-0"

8'-0"

8'-0"

10'-0"

11'-0"

9'-0" 9'-0"

9'-0"

11'-0"

11'-0"

8'-0"

8'-0"

10'-0"

14'-0"

8'-0"

9'-0"

9'-0"

8'-0"

1
3

'-
6
 1

/4
"

1
3

'-
6
 1

/4
"

2
3

'-
3

"

S
L

O
P

E
 4

:1
2

S
L

O
P

E
 4

:1
2

8'-0"

GYM ETC

OFFICE OFFICE OFFICE

TRAINING

SLEEPING SLEEPING

DAYROOM

RISER RM

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE

STORAGE

CONFERENCE

MENWOMEN

MECH.

IT

4 BAY

MED.

RR

STORAGE

ELEVEQUIP.

STOR.

RECEPTION

WAITING

COATS

RR

CONFERENCE

4

STAIR 1
STAIR 2

3 2 1

5

6

10

7

9

8

11

12

13STORAGE

UTILITY

8'-0"

9'-0"

9'-0"

8'-0"8'-0"

9'-0"

OFFICE

14

CONFERENCE
WOMEN MEN

ELEV

MECH

12

11 10 9 8 7 6

5

4 3

2

1

15

13

9'-0"

9'-0"

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

1
:0

4
 A

M

A-101C

FIRST LEVEL CEILING

PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-101C

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 FIRST LEVEL CEILING PLAN

 1/8" = 1'-0"2 UPPER LEVEL CEILING PLAN

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 40 of 57



DN

DN

201 sf

OFFICE

121 sf

14

122 sf

CONFERENCE
62 sf

WOMEN
63 sf

MEN

ELEV

98 sf

MECH

95 sf

12

108 sf

11

70 sf

10

77 sf

9

72 sf

8

69 sf

7

71 sf

6

63 sf

5

70 sf

4

69 sf

3

67 sf

2

71 sf

1

95 sf

15

59 sf

13

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6" / 12"
6" / 12"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6
" 

/ 
1
2

"
6

" 
/ 

1
2

"

6
" 

/ 
1
2

"

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

CHIMNEY 
FLUE

RIDGERIDGE

R
ID

G
E

R
ID

G
E

R
ID

G
E

R
ID

G
E

RIDGE
HIP

VALLEY

VA
LL

E
Y

VA
LL

E
YVA
LLE

Y

VA
LLE

Y

VA
LL

E
Y

VA
LL

E
Y

H
IP

RIDGE

6
" 

/ 
1
2

"

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

2
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1
2

"

2
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1
2

"

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

1
:0

7
 A

M

A-102

UPPER LEVEL FLOOR

PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-102

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1/8" = 1'-0"

UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 41 of 57



6
" 

/ 
1
2

"
6

" 
/ 

1
2

"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6
" 

/ 
1
2

"
6

" 
/ 

1
2

"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

6
" 

/ 1
2
"

CHIMNEY 
FLUE

RIDGERIDGE

R
ID

G
E

R
ID

G
E

R
ID

G
E

R
ID

G
E

RIDGE
HIP

VALLEY

VA
LL

E
Y

VA
LL

E
Y

VA
LLE

Y

VA
LLE

Y

VA
LL

E
Y

VA
LL

E
Y

H
IP

RIDGE

RIDGE

6" / 12" 6" / 12"

6
" 

/ 
1
2

"
6

" 
/ 

1
2

"

2
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1
2

"

2
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1
2

"

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

1
:0

9
 A

M

A-103

ROOF PLAN

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-103

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1/8" = 1'-0"

ROOF PLAN

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 42 of 57



L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

2
7
'-
7
"

MIDPOINT OF ROOF

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

1
:3

8
 A

M

A-201

BLDG ELEVATIONS

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-201

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 NORTH ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"2 WEST ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"3 EAST ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"4 SOUTH ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"5 WEST-NORTH ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"6 EAST-SOUTH  ELEVATION
 1/8" = 1'-0"7 EAST-NORTH ELEVATION

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 43 of 57



L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1_2

10' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L2

14' - 0"

L3

23' - 0"

L1

0' - 0"

L1_1

8' - 0"

PROJECT NUMBER:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE:

SHEET NUMBER:

REVISIONS:

©
 2

0
2

1
 K

e
rr

y 
W

. 
V

a
n

d
e

rZ
a

n
d

e
n

 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

, 
P

.C
.

13981 NW MAIN STREET

BANKS, OREGON 97106

(503) 324-0533 / (503) 324-0883 FAX

KERRY W. VANDERZANDEN 

ARCHITECT, P.C. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

M

N

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

Line is 3 inches at full scale

(if not 3 inches then scale accordingly)

0' - 3"

PREPARED FOR:

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS:

O O

E
:\
D

ro
p

b
o
x
\0

6
 P

ro
je

c
ts

-K
V

A
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e
\0

9
 C

A
D

D
\1

7
0
8

2
4
 W

a
rr

e
n

to
n

 D
is

p
a

tc
h

 O
ff

ic
e

 r
e

c
o

v
e
r.

rv
t

7
/1

6
/2

0
2
1

 9
:1

1
:5

5
 A

M

A-202

BLDG ELEVATIONS

170824

NEW DISPATCH BLDG

WARRENTON DISPATCH

OFFICE

2021-07-16

2325 SE Dolphin Avenue

Warrenton, OR 97146

PRELIMINARY

PRELIM
IN

ARY

1708242021-07-16 A-202

RG

DC

MEDIX AMBULANCE SERVICES
2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Warrenton, OR

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 NORTH-WEST ELEVATION
 1/8" = 1'-0"2 EAST INSET ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"3 EAST INSET ELEVATION (GARAGE)

 1/8" = 1'-0"4 SOUTH-WEST ELEVATION (GARAGE)

 1/8" = 1'-0"5 NORTH INSET ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"6 SOUTH-EAST ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"7 WEST INSET ELEVATION
 1/8" = 1'-0"8 BLDG CROSS SECTION

 1/8" = 1'-0"9 BLDG CROSS SECTION

No. Date Description

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 44 of 57



June 25, 2021 

To: Greta Holmstrom 
From: Will Caplinger, Interim City Planner, City of Warrenton 
Copy: Van Wilfinger, Building Official; Colin Stelzig, Public Works Director; Brian Alsbury, Fire Chief 

Re: June 10, 2021 Pre-application meeting for ambulance dispatch facility 
Site: 2325 SE Dolphin Ave., Tax Lots 81033AA01100, -1000 
Zone: General Industrial (I-1) 

This memo outlines information identified during our preapplication conference with you on Thursday , 
June 10, 2021. You can use this memo as a checklist to help assure that your application is complete 
when submitted. This memo does not constitute a final decision and is provided as a courtesy to assist 
you with developing complete plans. Comments are based on our discussion at the conference and on 
the Pre-Application Conference application submitted by you on April 16, 2021.  

On the following page you will find links to the sections of the Warrenton Municipal Code (WMC) that 
apply to the submittal, review, and approval of your application. Although staff endeavors to provide 
information on all relevant criteria for this application, please be advised that WMC Section 
16.209.070.C.3 contains this disclaimer: Failure of the Community Development Director or his/her 

designee to provide any of the information required by this subsection C shall not constitute a waiver of 

any of the standards, criteria or requirements for the application. 

This project is a Permitted Use per WMC 16.60.020.V as a Similar Use, similar to Subsections F (Storage 
and distribution services and facilities (i.e., truck terminals,…), L (Professional, financial or business 
offices) and N (Government buildings and uses). The Permitted Use will be administratively processed via 
a Type I procedure per WMC 16.208.030. 

Site Design Review is required by WMC 16.212.040.A.1.b.ii (More than 10,000 square feet of gross floor 

area or developing two or more acres of land shall be reviewed as a Type III application.); hence, the 
application will be reviewed via a Type III procedure with a public hearing by the Planning Commission 
per WMC 16.220.050. 

Design Standards that may apply to the project are contained in WMC Division 3 and are listed on the 
following page. 

Both local and state law allow the city to take up to 30 days to determine if an application is complete, 
but staff usually issues a completeness determination in far less time. Both local and state law also 
require the city to complete the process to approve or disapprove the application, including all local 
appeals, within 120 days of the application being deemed complete by staff. Application requirements 

P. O. BOX 250 W ARRENTON, OR 97146 - 0250 OFFICE: 503 . 861 . 2233 FAX: 503 . 861 . 2351  

5.D

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 45 of 57



are listed in the WMC sections noted above. The Community & Economic Development Department 
performance review time for a Type III application from “completeness” to “notice of decision” is 
generally 6-10 weeks but can take longer depending on workload and on how the timing of application 
submittal and review coincides with the calendar for regularly scheduled Planning Commission 
meetings. 

The Warrenton Municipal Code sections referenced below will be used in reviewing the Permitted Use 
and the Site Design Review submittals. The Site Design Review application requires you to provide a 
narrative response to each code section.  Staff can provide you with a template for those responses if 
necessary.  

Planning/Zoning Comments (Code links): 

1. WMC 16.60.020 provides a description of Permitted Uses and 16.60.040 lists the related
Development Standards:
16.60.020 Permitted Uses. (qcode.us)
16.60.040 Development Standards. (qcode.us)

2. WMC 16.208.030 provides details on the submittal and processing of a Permitted Use
application:
16.208.030 Type I Procedure (Ministerial). (qcode.us)

3. WMC 16.212.040 provides details on the submittal and processing of a Site Design review
application:
16.212.040 Site Design Review. (qcode.us)

4. WMC 16.208.050 provides details on a Type III procedure:
16.208.050 Type III Procedure (Quasi-Judicial). (qcode.us)

5. Design Standards that apply to this project include, but may not be limited to:
16.116.030 Architectural and Site Design Standards. (qcode.us)
Chapter 16.120 ACCESS AND CIRCULATION (qcode.us)
Chapter 16.124 LANDSCAPING, STREET TREES, FENCES AND WALLS (qcode.us)
Chapter 16.128 VEHICLE AND BICYCLE PARKING (qcode.us)
Chapter 16.140 STORMWATER AND SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT (qcode.us)
Chapter 16.144 SIGNS (qcode.us)
Chapter 16.192 LARGE-SCALE DEVELOPMENTS (qcode.us)

Building Department Comments: 

The plans, as submitted, are conceptual in nature and do not contain sufficient information to allow a 
comprehensive Building Department review at this time. Upon completion of the pre-app, land use, and 
development review and approval, building plans will be required, including a site plan, building plans, 
plumbing plans, and mechanical plans. Electrical plans and permits are reviewed and inspected by 
Clatsop County Building Codes Division. Preliminary Building Department comments based on the pre-
application conference are listed below, but additional comments may be forthcoming upon submittal 
of complete building plans. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 46 of 57

http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?version=beta&view=mobile&topic=16-2-16_60-16_60_020
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-2-16_60-16_60_040
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-4-16_208-16_208_030
https://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-4-16_212-16_212_040&frames=on
https://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-4-16_208-16_208_050&frames=on
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_116-16_116_030
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_120
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_124
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_128
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_140
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_144
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16-3-16_192


1. At the sleeping rooms, a fire barrier will be required per OSSC Section 420.2 and Section 708,
separating the sleeping rooms from adjacent spaces.

2. At the sleeping rooms, smoke and carbon monoxide alarms will be required per OSSC 907.2.10
and Section 915.1.2.

Public Works Comments: 

Public Works understands that a new building is proposed on tax Lot 81033AA01100 to replace the 
existing structure. There are two separate lots for the facility, tax lot 81033AA01000 is west of the lot 
with the planned structure. There was not a proposed utility drawing available to review. With this 
information, staff at public works has provided the following items that will need to be addressed in 
your design and planning documents: 

1. The developer is required to follow the City of Warrenton Development Standards. These standards
can be found in Title 16 of the Warrenton Municipal Code. Please provide documentation showing how
this development will meet the standards set forth in the development code. Below is a link to the
Development Code http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16&frames=on

2. The developer must follow the City’s Water and Sewer Regulations. These regulations are included
under Title 13 of the Warrenton Municipal Code. Please provide documentation showing how this
development will meet the standards set forth in the development code. Below is a link to the Title 13 of
our Code: http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=13&frames=on

3. The developer is required to follow the Engineering Standards & Design Criteria Manual. Please
provide documentation showing how the development meets the standards set forth in this manual.
This manual can be found at the http://www.ci.warrenton.or.us/publicworks/page/engineering-
specifications-design-guide

4. Connection to city sewer service is required.

5. New water meter and service connections will be installed by the owner/contractor.

6. All commercial property shall have a backflow device at the water meter (pre-existing or new) for
premise isolation.

7. The City will need an easement at meter and vault if located on private property.

8. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of 5 feet wide and shall meet ODOT standards.

9. Driveway shall meet ODOT standards.

10. Streetlights are required for all new developments. Show proposed streetlight locations and submit
plan to Pacific Power & Light for circuit design.

11. Please work with the Fire Chief to determine appropriate fire hydrant spacing for this development.
Developer team is responsible for determining if fire flows are available at this location. This can include
hydrant testing and/or water modeling.

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 47 of 57

http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=16&frames=on
http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?topic=13&frames=on
http://www.ci.warrenton.or.us/publicworks/page/engineering-specifications-design-guide
http://www.ci.warrenton.or.us/publicworks/page/engineering-specifications-design-guide


12. All on-site driveways, parking areas, aisles and turn-a-rounds shall have on-site collection or
infiltration of surface waters to eliminate sheet flow of such waters onto public rights-of-way and
abutting property. Surface water facility plans shall be prepared by a qualified engineer and constructed
in accordance with City standards. Stormwater report shall detail pre and post stormwater conditions,
including the adjacent ROWs and flows from existing storm system.

13. The City has design standards for refuse enclosures that include the required turning radius and
access standard. Enclosure shall include room for recycling also.

14. All easements, private or public, shall be shown on plans and recorded with the county.

Fire Department Comments: 

Based on the information provided, the Fire Department has the following comments. 

ACCESS: 

With plans submitted, it appears that adequate access has been provided. 

Building access with key must be provided, this will be in a Supra Box affixed to the exterior of building 

next to the entrance of each occupancy Please see attached page with Supra Box ordering details. 

Provide and affix to the building-BUILDING INFORMATION SIGN-please read attached appendix J Oregon 

Fire Code. FDC location request- facing Dolphin Ln SE corner of property. 

WATER SUPPLY: 

Hydrants-Please provide the following information: 

Waterflows from hydrants located on property side of Dolphin Ln, please see list of vendors that can 

complete this. Hydrant locations and distance all appear to be in good locations. 

FDC location request- facing Dolphin Ln SE corner of property. 

-Hydrant Flow Testing-

Red Hawk Fire Protection

3801 NW Fruit Valley Rd Suite D, Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 984-3712

Wyatt Fire Protection 

9095 SW Burnham St, Tigard, OR 97223 (503) 684-2928 

Delta Fire, Inc 

14795 SW 72nd Ave, Portland, OR 97224 (503) 620-4020 

Viking Fire Protection 

3245 NW Front Ave, Portland, OR 97210 (503) 227-1171 

Basic Fire Protection 

8135 NE MLK Jr. Blvd, Portland, OR 97211 

(503) 285 0713

ADDRESS: 

Building will be required to have address number visible from the street with opposing/contrasting 

number. i.e., black numbers with white background, no smaller than 4” in height. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 48 of 57



Estimated Permit Fees & SDCs: 
*Fees indicated below represent estimates based on the initial information presented in the pre-
application conference and are subject to change. An estimate of Building Permit fees is not included.

Permitted Use/Similar Use application fee is $350. 
Site Design Review application fee for site area between 10,000-15,000 sq. ft. is $750. 

Grading permits and engineering design are reviewed by a third-party consultant and requires a deposit 
and direct charge for services. This will be calculated at the time of submittal. 

Please use this letter as a checklist for your land use submittal. 

If you have any questions about the requirements or any City related issues, please contact Will 
Caplinger at cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us or (503) 468-1015. 

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 49 of 57

mailto:cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us


NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

The Warrenton Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing at 6:00 PM, September 9, 2021, at the 
Warrenton City Hall Commission Chambers to consider the following requests: 

SDR 21-3, a site design review of a request by Greta Holmstrom/Ardor Consulting LLC on behalf of property 
owner Fuiten West Partnership to construct a new 13,607 sq. ft. building and associated site improvements for the 
existing Medix ambulance dispatch facility at 2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Tax Lot 81033AA01100, in the General 
Industrial (I1) Zone. Applicable criteria and standards specific to this request are contained in WMC Chapters 16.60 
General Industrial (I1) Zone, 16.116 Design Standards, 16.120 Access and Circulation, 16.124 Landscaping, Street 
Trees, Fences, and Walls, 16.128 Vehicle and Bicycle Parking, 16.136 Public Facilities Standards, 16.140 
Stormwater and Surface Water Management, 16.144 Signs, 16.152 Grading, Excavating, and Erosion Control 
Plans, 16.192 Large Scale Developments, 16.208 Types of Applications and Review Procedures, and 16.212 Site 
Design Review. 

Those wishing to testify on this request may attend the public hearing and sign a card to speak to 
the Planning Commission, or submit written materials, which must be received by the Warrenton Community and 
Economic Development Department no later than 4:00 P.M. on the day of the hearing. Written comments may be 
mailed to Rebecca Sprengeler, Deputy City Recorder, P.O. Box 250, Warrenton Oregon, 97146-0250; or emailed 
to Will Caplinger, Interim City Planner, at cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us.  

At the public hearing, the Planning Commission chairperson will open the public hearing and describe the 
general conduct and procedure for providing public comment. A staff report will be given, followed by a statement 
from the applicant, followed by public testimony, discussion among the commissioners, and a decision on, or a 
continuation of, the request. 

Failure to raise an issue in person, or by or by letter at the hearing, or failure to provide statements of 
evidence sufficient to afford the decision makers an opportunity to respond to the issue, means that an appeal 
based on that issue cannot be filed with the State Land Use Board of Appeals.  

A copy of the application, all documents and evidence submitted by or for the applicant, and the applicable 
criteria and standards can be reviewed at Warrenton City Hall at no cost and copies shall be provided at a 
reasonable cost. A copy of the City’s staff report and recommendation to the hearing body shall be available for 
review at least seven days before the hearing, and a copy shall be provided at a reasonable cost. 

Anyone wishing to review and/or purchase copies of the proposals and/or staff report may do so at 
Warrenton City Hall, 225 South Main, or may contact Rebecca Sprengeler at 503-861-0823 or via email at 
rsprengeler@ci.warrenton.or.us.  

Mailed August 20, 2021 

P. O. BOX 250 W ARRENTON, OR 97146 - 0250 OFFICE: 503 . 861 . 2233 FAX: 503 . 861 . 2351  

5.E

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 50 of 57

mailto:cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us
mailto:rsprengeler@ci.warrenton.or.us


NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

The Warrenton Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing at 6:00 PM, September 9, 2021, at the 
Warrenton City Hall Commission Chambers to consider the following request:  

SDR 21-3, a site design review of a request by Greta Holmstrom/Ardor Consulting LLC on behalf of property 
owner Fuiten West Partnership to construct a new 13,607 sq. ft. building and associated site improvements for the 
existing Medix ambulance dispatch facility at 2325 SE Dolphin Avenue, Tax Lot 81033AA01100, in the General 
Industrial (I1) Zone. Applicable criteria and standards specific to this request are contained in WMC Chapters 16.60 
General Industrial (I1) Zone, 16.116 Design Standards, 16.120 Access and Circulation, 16.124 Landscaping, Street 
Trees, Fences, and Walls, 16.128 Vehicle and Bicycle Parking, 16.136 Public Facilities Standards, 16.140 
Stormwater and Surface Water Management, 16.144 Signs, 16.152 Grading, Excavating, and Erosion Control 
Plans, 16.192 Large Scale Developments, 16.208 Types of Applications and Review Procedures, and 16.212 Site 
Design Review.  

Those wishing to testify on this request may attend the public hearing and sign a card to speak to 
the Planning Commission, or submit written materials, which must be received by the Warrenton Community and 
Economic Development Department no later than 4:00 P.M. on the day of the hearing. Written comments may be 
mailed to Rebecca Sprengeler, Deputy City Recorder, P.O. Box 250, Warrenton Oregon, 97146-0250; or emailed 
to Will Caplinger, Interim City Planner, at cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us.  

At the public hearing, the Planning Commission chairperson will open the public hearing and describe the 
general conduct and procedure for providing public comment. A staff report will be given, followed by a statement 
from the applicant, followed by public testimony, discussion among the commissioners, and a decision on, or a 
continuation of, the request. 

Failure to raise an issue in person, or by or by letter at the hearing, or failure to provide statements of 
evidence sufficient to afford the decision makers an opportunity to respond to the issue, means that an appeal 
based on that issue cannot be filed with the State Land Use Board of Appeals.  

A copy of the application, all documents and evidence submitted by or for the applicant, and the applicable 
criteria and standards can be reviewed at Warrenton City Hall at no cost and copies shall be provided at a 
reasonable cost. A copy of the City’s staff report and recommendation to the hearing body shall be available for 
review at least seven days before the hearing, and a copy shall be provided at a reasonable cost. 

Anyone wishing to review and/or purchase copies of the proposals and/or staff report may do so at 
Warrenton City Hall, 225 South Main, or may contact Rebecca Sprengeler at 503-861-0823 or via email at 
rsprengeler@ci.warrenton.or.us.  

Published August 27, 2021 

5.F

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 51 of 57

mailto:cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us
mailto:rsprengeler@ci.warrenton.or.us


September 2, 2021 

To: Warrenton Planning Commission 

From: Will Caplinger, Interim City Planner 

Re: Stop Work Order Hearing 

BACKGROUND 

Around mid-June of this year, the Building Official received a complaint that three Recreational Vehicles 

were parked and occupied on a vacant portion of a property owned by Jeffrey and Teri Menna at 719 S 

Main Avenue in the Commercial-Mixed Use (CMU) zone. Apparently, Scott Hess told the Mennas that 

they could park and occupy an RV while they built a new house on the property. If so, that would not be 

consistent with the provisions of the WMC, which allows one RV to be occupied during construction of 

a residence, but only in strictly residential zones, and only after obtaining a building permit. The code 

does not allow an RV to be occupied during house construction in the CMU zone, regardless of whether 

the property owner has obtained a building permit.  

 The Building Official mailed this notice to the Mennas on or about June 15, 2021 and again on or about 

June 30, 2021; 

Good afternoon, Terri and Jeff- 
 We received a complaint regarding additional RV’s on your property. The city’s municipal code allows 
one temporary housing unit during the land prep and construction on your property. There are also 
concerns on where the gray and black water are being directed. 
 The city’s Public Works Department does not currently allow RV’s to tie into the city’s wastewater 
system, and the one RV will need to have pumping service arranged with a local company for service. 
 The additional RV’s will need to be removed. 
Please contact us if you have any questions. 

Thanks, 
Van 
Van Wilfinger, CBO 
Building Official 
City of Warrenton 
(503) 861-0920
vwilfinger@ci.warrenton.or.us

Reportedly, at least two of the three RVs were occupied by the Mennas and their family members, and 

P. O. BOX 250 W ARRENTON, OR 97146 - 0250 OFFICE: 503 . 861 . 2233 FAX: 503 . 861 . 
2351  

6. SWOH

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 52 of 57

mailto:vwilfinger@ci.warrenton.or.us


one RV was being used for storage. Various staff members discussed the situation with the Mennas and 

advised them that they could not park and occupy any RVs on the property.  

At the direction of the City Manager, I sent the Mennas the attached Cease & Desist letter dated July 2, 

2021. After receiving no response and no indication of compliance, staff posted and mailed, via registered 

mail, the attached Stop Work Order dated August 27, 2021. The Stop Work Order complies with the 

violation enforcement procedure described in WMC Section 16.16.070. 

Considering that this illegal use has been occurring unabated since at least mid June, and the Mennas have 

had constructive notices to cease the use since that time, and have not ceased the violation, it is prudent to 

continue to the next step in the violation enforcement procedure, which is this Stop Work Order Hearing 

described in WMC section 16.16.070.B.2: 

B. Stop-Work Order Hearing. The Community Development Director shall schedule a public hearing before

the Planning Commission if the purported violation is not removed or corrected following due warning from the

City, typically 30 days from the date of the stop-work order. If the violation is not removed or corrected within the

time specified, the Community Development Director shall schedule a hearing before the Planning Commission,

with no requirement for public notice. The hearing shall be held in accordance with the procedures of Section

16.208.050. At the discretion of the Community Development Director, such hearing may be:

2. Solely to determine whether a violation has occurred. The Planning Commission shall hold this hearing and

shall make written findings as to the violation within 10 business days. Upon a finding of no violation, the

Planning Commission shall require the issuance of a resume work order. Upon finding a violation, the stop-order

shall continue to be effective until the violating party furnishes sufficient proof to the Planning Commission or its

designee that the violation has been abated. The Planning Commission decision is subject to notice and appeal

procedures prescribed by Section 16.208.050.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

Since the “work” may not be resumed in the CMU District, staff recommends that the Planning 

Commission approve and adopt the following findings to facilitate a resolution of the violation. 

FINDINGS 

1. WMC Section 16.16.020 Violation of Code Prohibited states that, “No person shall erect, construct,

alter, maintain or use any building or structure or shall use, divide or transfer any land in violation of this

Code or any amendment thereto.”

2. A violation has occurred in that Jeffery and Terri Menna have occupied recreation vehicles on their

property at 719 S main Avenue in violation of WMC 12.28.030.A for more than two months: “No

recreational vehicle or trailer shall be used for sleeping or lodging purposes outside of designated

camping areas except by special permit from the City, said permit to be limited to one vehicle only at any

one time. Permits may be obtained from City Hall for a period of up to 48 hours for parking of recreational

vehicles on private residential property that is not designated as a camping area. Permits must be obtained

in advance of parking the recreational vehicle or trailer in residential areas.”

3. If the violation is not immediately abated, it is necessary and appropriate to proceed to the penalty phase

and apply fines per WMC 16.16.030 A-C:

A. A person violating a provision of this Code shall, upon conviction, be subject to a fine of

not less than $100.00, nor more than $1,000.00.

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 53 of 57



B. Each Violation a Separate Infraction. Each violation of a separate provision of this Code

shall constitute a separate infraction, and each day that a violation of this Code is committed

or continued shall constitute a separate infraction.

C. Abatement of Violation Required. A finding of a violation of this Code shall not relieve the

responsible party of the duty to abate the violation. The penalties imposed by this section are in

addition to and not in lieu of any remedies available to the City.

Suggested Motion: 

I motion to adopt the findings in the staff report and direct staff to provide notice to the violator of the 

findings and to consult with the City Manager and the  City Attorney to identify the proper procedure to 

levy and accrue fines of $_______ per violation per day.  [The Commission will determine the amount] 

ATTACHMENTS 

• Cease and Desist letter dated July 2, 2021

• Stop Work Order dated August 27, 2021

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 54 of 57



July 2, 2021 

To: Jeffrey & Teri Menna 
P.O. Box 1078 
Warrenton, OR 97146 

Re: Cease and Desist Illegal Occupancy of Recreational Vehicles 
719 South Main Avenue  

The use of recreational vehicles on your property is specifically prohibited on vacant land per section 10.16.020 
and can only be permitted for a short period per 12.28.030. Please note that the CMU zone does not include a 
Permitted Use that allows a temporary dwelling on-site during construction, as is permitted in the residential 
districts. Please refer to the following Warrenton Municipal Code provisions: 

10.16.020 Parking restrictions. 

 No recreational vehicle or trailer shall be parked or stored upon property designated as marinas, City parks, 

or vacant land within the City limits of Warrenton, for the purpose of lodging or sleeping therein, except during 

daylight hours. (Ord. 915-A § 2, 1993) 

12.28.030 Use of RV on private residential property. 

A. No recreational vehicle or trailer shall be used for sleeping or lodging purposes outside of designated

camping areas except by special permit from the City, said permit to be limited to one vehicle only at any one 

time. Permits may be obtained from City Hall for a period of up to 48 hours for parking of recreational vehicles 

on private residential property that is not designated as a camping area. Permits must be obtained in advance of 

parking the recreational vehicle or trailer in residential areas. 

B. Parking must be in such a manner as not to cause a traffic hazard. There can be no discharge of wastes

of any sort except into proper sewer or septic systems. (Ord. 1179-A § 4, 2013) 

16.44.020 Permitted Uses. (qcode.us) (CMU District Permitted Uses) 

The recreational vehicles must be immediately removed from the property outside of daylight hours and must 
be parked at a designated camping area during night hours. 

Will Caplinger 
Interim City Planner 
City of Warrenton 
(503) 468-1015

P. O. BOX 250 W ARRENTON, OR 97146 - 0250 OFFICE: 503 . 861 . 2233 FAX: 503 . 861 . 2351  

6.A

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 55 of 57

http://qcode.us/codes/warrenton/view.php?version=beta&view=mobile&topic=16-2-16_44-16_44_020


WARRENTON COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
225 S. Main / P.O. Box 250

Warrenton, Oregon 97146-0250

TEL (503) 861-0920
FAX (503) 861-2351
dtyplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us

STOP WORK ORDER

This Stop Work Order is issued concerning the property listed below pursuant to Chapter 16.16 of the Warrenton
Municipal Code (WMC). Pursuant to WMC Section 16.16.070, the Stop Work Order is issued in accordance with the
following conditions:

1. Work has occurred that violates the provisions of the Warrenton Municipal Code.

2. The Stop Work Order is served on the property owner by certified mail and is posted in a conspicuous location at

the site of the violation.

3. Upon issuance of the Stop Work Order, all Work shall immediately cease.

4. The Stop Work Order states the reason for the order, and the conditions under which the cited work will be

permitted to resume.

Any person who continues any Work after having been served with a Stop Work Order, or who removes
the posted Stop Work Order, shall be subject to penalties as prescribed by law.

Date: August 27, 2021

Property Location: 719 S. Main Avenue, Warrenton, OR. 97146

Property Owner: Jeffrey H. and Ten Menna

Mailing Address: 719 S. Main Avenue, Warrenton, OR. 97146

Reason for the Stop Work Order:

• Recreation Vehicles have been parked and occupied on the property in violation ofWMC Section 12.28.030.

Conditions to Resume Work:

• The Work is an activity that is prohibited by WMC Section 12.28.030, and the use of a Recreational Vehicle (RV)
for sleeping and lodging is not allowed except for a single RV for one 48-hour period, subject to issuance of a

special permit per WMC Section 12.28.030. The RVs must be removed prior to issuance of such permit.

• The Commercial-Mixed Use Zone does not include a Permitted Use that allows a temporary dwelling on-site

during construction; hence, occupancy of an RV may not resume for such use during construction.

• No later than September 1, 2021, the property owners must demonstrate that the RVs are unoccupied or removed

from the property outside of daylight hours and parked at a designated camping area during night hours.

Will Caplinger
Interim City Planner
City ofWarrenton

6.B

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 56 of 57



r^
LH
r-1

IT
tT
m
m
t-R

a
a
a
a
EO
nj
nj

CT
r=l

a
r^

U.S. Postal Service"

CCTTIFIED MAIL® RECEIPT
Domestic Mail Only

For delivery information, visit our websile at wHW.usps.com

Uap^n^n^fll <^n%
Cert if isd Mail Fee t3.60
Extra Services & Fees (chackbox, add fee
D Return Receipt (hardcopy) $ _

D Return Receipt (electronic)

QCertifisd Mali Restricted Delivery

[_[ Adult Signature Required

Q Adult Signature Reatrictad Dalivery $

SSfft
$ ^o _ oo
$—^0.00

Postage
$0.55

fotal Postage and Fees
$7.Cii:t

0330
10

Postmark

Here

08/27/2C121

?..^A,O!\&T^OL
mcSApt.wo,, or w vox NO.

^Ma^^C..
^a^.^ca^J.LAH'.t31
PS Form 3800, April 2015 PSN 7530-02-000-9047 See Reverse for Instructions

SENDER: COMPLETE THIS SECTION

Complete itenis4,"2, and 3.

Print your name and address on the reverse
so that we can return the card to you.

Attach this card to the back of the mailpiece,
or on the front if space permits.

COMPLETE THIS SECIiC"' "'.' ^EU"r~-"v

1. Article Addressed to:

'Se^-ce.^ ^ Te.c: «\tT\<\<\

'\\<\ S.cr\c^A\^

lOoLrr&nVoc\* Oft cnH6>

D. Is delivery address different from item 1 ? D Yes
If YES, enter delivery address below; D No

9590 9402 5806 0034 3375 46

2. Article Number (Transfer from service label)

?ai^ 3EflD aaai.. 3atn. 30,5^:;
TlT^ti :-iiT; '.~i st i s i~i TTIT iT? i si:;

PS Form 3811, Ju[y2015T^N7^ol-ol2-ooo'^i3li

3. Service Type
D Adult Signature
a Adult Signature Restricted Delivery
a Certified Mail®
D Certified Mail Restricted Delivery
Q Collect on Delivery
a Collect on Delivery Restricted Delivery

'nsured Mail

.l3sureflVail,E^rictedDqlive[x .. .
::'4wi^qq)mih;n;:ii::rii!ii;?

D Priority Mail Express®
D Registered Mail™
a Registered Mail Restricted

Delivery
D Return Receipt for

Merchandise
a Signature Confirmalion™
D Signature Confirmation

Restricted Delivery

w Domestic Return Rt

Planning Commission Packet 9.9.21 57 of 57


	Agenda
	4. DRAFT PC Minutes 8.12.21
	5. Medix PC Staff Report SDR-21-3
	5.A Medix Application SDR-21-3
	5.B Medix SDR Narrative
	5.C SDR Plan Set 2021-07-16 170824 Warrenton Dispatch Office
	A-001 - COVER SHEET
	A-002 - EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
	A-003 - LIGHTING PLAN
	A-100 - SITE PLAN
	A-101 - FIRST LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
	A-101C - FIRST LEVEL CEILING PLAN
	A-102 - UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
	A-103 - ROOF PLAN
	A-201 - BLDG ELEVATIONS
	A-202 - BLDG ELEVATIONS

	5.D Medix_PreApp_memo
	5.E Public Notice Sept 9 21 mailed
	5.F Public Notice Sept 9 21 published

	6. Menna SWOH PC staff report 9 09 21
	6.A Menna cease  desist letter
	6.B Stop Work Order




